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Tuesday, November 14, 2023
--- On commencing at 9:32 a.m.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Let's go on the record.  Good morning.  My name is James Sidlofsky, and I am counsel with the Ontario Energy Board in this matter.

We are here today for a virtual technical conference on the EPCOR Natural Gas Limited Partnership application under sections 90 and 97 of the Ontario Energy Board Act, 1998, for an order granting leave to construct approximately 34.1 km of NPS 4-inch polyethylene natural gas distribution pipeline and approximately 46.5 km of NPS 2-inch pipeline in the Municipality of Kincardine, the Township of Arran-Elderslie, the Municipality of Brockton, and the Municipality of West Grey.

The proposed pipelines will supply natural gas to approximately 423 new customers who currently do not have access to natural gas service.  This project is qualified for financial support under the Government of Ontario's Natural Gas Expansion Program, and EPCOR has also requested certain other related relief in its application.

In Procedural Order No. 2 issued October 24 of this year, the OEB scheduled a technical conference for clarification on EPCOR's interrogatory responses.  I will say more about today's session in a moment, but I would like to begin with a land acknowledgement from our hearings advisor, Ashley Sanasie.
Land Acknowledgement:


MS. SANASIE:  The Ontario Energy Board acknowledges that our headquarters in Toronto is located on the traditional territory of many nations, including the Mississaugas of the Credit, the Anishinaabeg, the Chippewa, the Haudenosaunee, and the Wendat peoples.  This area is now home to many diverse First Nations, Inuit, and Métis peoples.  We also acknowledge that Toronto is covered by Treaty 13 with the Mississaugas of the Credit.  We are grateful for the opportunity to gather and work on this land and recognize our shared responsibility to support and be good stewards of it.  Thank you.
Procedural Matters:


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you. I will remind parties that technical conferences do not take place in front of the Panel of Board members who are hearing the case, but they are transcribed, and the transcript forms part of the record in this proceeding.  The session is also being broadcast and will be on air throughout the conference, except for breaks and those times, if any, where material that is being treated as confident is being discussed.

As general matter, I will remind parties that intervenor representatives seeking access to confidential material are required to execute the OEB's form of confidentiality undertaking, in accordance with the Board's practice direction on confidential filings.  So far in this proceeding, the only material subject to a confidentiality request relates to personal information in the environmental report and the landowner list and certain information in the interrogatory responses.  My understanding is that information in the interrogatory responses also relates to personal e-mail addresses.

In procedural order number 1, the OEB determined that the personal information in the environmental report and landowner list is personal information and that it will not be provided to intervenors in this proceeding.  The OEB hasn't made findings on the redactions in the interrogatory responses to date.  I am not anticipating question on the redacted material in those responses because, as I said, the redactions appear to relate only to personal e-mail addresses, but I would ask anyone intending to ask questions about redacted material, pending the OEB's determination, to group those questions in order to minimize the time that we have to close the proceeding.

If we have to go in camera, attendance would be restricted to those that have signed the Board's confidentiality undertaking and, if it proposes that certain individuals not have access to the in camera session, we can hear from the parties at that time.  If any confidential material is to be referred to and we have to go in camera, then a redacted version of the transcript will be placed on the public record, but the OEB's disposition of EPCOR's confidentiality request at a later date may affect the form of the transcript that will be place on the record.

The other procedural matter I would like to remind parties of this is that this is a technical conference.  It is not intended to be cross-examination on the evidence, but rather, as the OEB stated in procedural order number 2, the technical conference is being held to provide for clarification on EPCOR's interrogatory responses.

Our hearing advisor, Lillian Ing, circulated the schedule for the technical conference after Environmental Defence and OEB Staff provided time estimates.  We intend to follow that schedule with regard to the order of questioning and, as it stands, it looks like we will conclude mid-afternoon today.

I will ask anyone asking questions to make your best efforts to keep to your estimated times and to consider whether it is possible to shorten those times where someone else may have covered areas in which you had similar questions.

We are planning a 15-minute break in the morning at around eleven o'clock, and you will see from the schedule that we have also planned a one-hour lunch break, but we will see how the morning goes.  Environmental Defence has advised that they will likely need less than the three hours they estimated, so it may be that we could finish up in the early afternoon without a lunch break.

And, finally, before we go into appearances, just a few technical reminders, because this is virtual setting.  First, I would ask intervenors who aren't asking questions to mute their audio and turn off their cameras when witnesses are being questioned by someone else.

Second, while there is chat function available on the Zoom platform, nothing in the chat platform is being recorded or will appear on the transcript.  So you can send messages to each other or to the group, but they will not be transcribed.

Third, and I believe everyone may have done this already, we ask that everyone ensure the name they have associated with their picture right now is their full name so that the court reporter can accurately report what is said.

Finally, for this virtual session, if you are stepping into ask a question, we ask that you repeat your name and whom you represent, and that will assist the court reporter in transcribing this matter.  And, as I said, that is particularly important if you are stepping in to ask a follow-up question.

On that note, I will introduce the members of OEB Staff who are here with me this morning.  I have two preliminary items to mention and then I will move on appearances.
Appearances:


With me are Lawrie Gluck, manager of natural gas applications at the Board; Ritchie Murray, senior advisor, natural gas, and case manager for this application; Arturo Lau, one of our advisors in natural gas; and Ashley Sanasie, and I believe Lillian Ing may be in the session.  They are our hearings advisors on this matter.

I am going to take appearances now, and I will begin with the only party scheduled to ask questions today, Environmental Defence.

MS. MONTGOMERY:  Good morning.  I am Amanda Montgomery, counsel for Environmental Defence.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Good morning.  And other intervenor representatives that are here?  Maybe I can start with Enbridge.  Is anyone here from Enbridge?

MS. SANASIE:  No one is here from Enbridge.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay, thank you.  I will move on to the Municipality of Brockton, and I understand that Mayor Peabody is here.  And, Your Worship, I understand that you have asked for a couple of minutes to speak this morning at the start of the session.  I will have you go ahead shortly, once I get through these couple of preliminary items, but you are here with your chief administrative officer.  Correct?

MR. PEABODY:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  So, Mayor Peabody, your CAO is -- and I am sorry, now her name totally escapes me, but --


MR. PEABODY:  Sonya Watson.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  There she is, Sonya Watson.  Sorry, I am trying to find a very small picture of you on my screen.  Good morning, Ms. Watson and Mayor Peabody.

Before we get to EPCOR, Ms. O'Callaghan and your panel, is there anyone else in attendance who is not scheduled to ask questions, but who is going on the record with an appearance this morning?  Hearing no one.  Ms. O'Callaghan, perhaps I could ask you to introduce yourself and your panel, and then I will deal with my preliminary items.

MS. O'CALLAGHAN:  Sure.  Good morning.  I am Daniela O'Callaghan, legal counsel with EPCOR, and I have with me my colleague Tayler Meagher.

I will move on to introduce the EPCOR witness panel.  There are five individuals on the witness panel.  They are Tim Hesselink, senior manager of regulatory affairs; Thomas Stachowski, project developer; Shubham Mohan, senior manager of industrial and major projects;  we have Ryan Litwinow, director of project and technical services; and Bruce Brandell, senior advisor commercial services.  These are the individuals who are available for questions today.

We also do have other EPCOR staff who will be on the call, but just as observers.  Ms. Robinson, vice president of our Ontario operations, will hop on a little later today.  We will also have Dave Ashbourne, who is project manager of industrial and major projects, and Mr. Butler, coordinator of commercial customer development.

Going back to the witness panel, I just thought for reference, it may be helpful for folks to know that Mr. Brandell is going to be primarily responsible for answering questions on economic testing and the right framework, as well as the requested Brockton customer volume variance account.

Mr. Stachowski can answer questions related to customer attachment and volume forecasts.  Mr. Mohan is here to direct to address questions related to the excess oil variance account.  And Mr. Litwinow and Mr. Hesselink have specific knowledge and awareness on various issues in this application, and will weigh in as necessary.  Thank you.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you, Ms. O'Callaghan.  So now, for my two preliminary matters first on Friday of last week, November 10, EPCOR filed a letter with a table the witness panel might be using in clarifying evidence in interrogatory responses today.  That letter and the table are already part of the record in this proceeding.  But if it is referred to today, I am planning on assigning an exhibit number to it.

I was going to do that first, but I think what might be best is if and when the table is referred to, I will give it an exhibit number, unless you were planning on speaking to it or your panel was planning on speaking to it, right off the top, Ms. O'Callaghan.  Or?

MS. O'CALLAGHAN:  No, I am happy with your proposed approach to that.  Yes.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.  I will wait until it comes up and then we will give it a number.

Second, as I mentioned, Mayor Peabody of the Municipality of Brockton is here.  And Ms. Watson, I assume you will be introducing the mayor.  But I will also note that we are happy to have you here, first of all.  But there will be also be an opportunity for submissions.  I understand that Mayor Peabody is going to be speaking in support, briefly speaking, in support of the application.

But just a reminder that as we move on in the course of the proceeding, there will be an opportunity for submissions as well, and the municipality is party to the proceeding.  So there will be a chance for the municipality to have a say later in the proceeding, as well, when it comes to submissions on the application.

Ms. Watson, maybe I could have you step in and introduce Mayor Peabody.

MS. WATSON:  Good morning, all.  Thank you.  We just wanted to be here today to support EPCOR.  And we have been working on advocating for natural gas since 2018, to support our community.  So I will have Mayor Peabody further address that.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Your worship, you are on.

MR. PEABODY:  Thank you.  Yes, thank you very much, and thank you to the Board for allowing me to speak.

We got this project from EPCOR.  It is a municipal initiative; this is something that the municipality and the council sought, from EPCOR.  And it is something we worked with our local members of the provincial Parliament to get the project funded in this area.  And the main reason that we want this project and need this project is that Brockton is the centre of a very strong agricultural community.  We are an agricultural town; that is what our economy is based on.  Twenty-seven percent of our workforce makes its living off of agriculture.

And we have two industries that are very important.  One is livestock.  The farmers will need natural gas to help them heat their turkey barns and chicken barns, so those are two very important things.  Cattle -- that those barns aren't heated, but the smaller livestock do require heat, so that is a very important component, as well as grain drying.  We have several very large grain producers in our municipality.  It brings a lot of income.

For this whole region, we are No. 1 in farm gate receipts -- $187 million a year in farming.  And any help our farmers can get to cement our farm economy, and for future generations, to keep that very vital economic link going.  That is why we sought the project out.  We want to support our farmers.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Mayor Peabody, thank you, very much.  I know you are not on the schedule for questions on the interrogatories.  Maybe I will direct it to you, Ms. Watson, but you are certainly welcome to stay for the day, if you would like.  But thank you for the comments.  I appreciate that.  And we will move on to the schedule now.

That means we would be starting with Environmental Defence.
EPCOR NATURAL GAS LP - PANEL 1

Tim Hesselink
Thomas Stachowski

Shubham Mohan

Ryan Litwinow

Bruce Brandell

Examination by Ms. Montgomery:


MS. MONTGOMERY:  Good morning, everyone, again.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Good morning, Ms. Montgomery, again.

MS. MONTGOMERY:  Again, my name is Amanda Montgomery, I am counsel for Environmental Defence.

Someone is going to be putting the IR responses up on the screen, I imagine.

I am going to start with 1 Staff 2, please.  So I am looking at 1 Staff 2, and this IR in the preamble refers to a map.  And our question is if EPCOR could reproduce the map of the project showing the farms that have expressed interest in connecting to the system?

MS. O'CALLAGHAN:  I think we can take that, that undertaking, subject to any comments or concerns from the panel.  We will take that undertaking.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  That will be undertaking JT1.1.
UNDERTAKING JT1.1:  TO REPRODUCE MAP SHOWING FARMS THAT HAVE EXPRESSED INTEREST IN CONNECTING TO THE SYSTEM

MS. MONTGOMERY:  Thank you.  My second question with regard to this IR is if EPCOR can recalculate the profitability index of the project if it were to be shrunk, so that it is only large enough to serve all the farms that have sought connections?

MR. STACHOWSKI:  The current map or scope of the project has been shrunk to capture all the agricultural customers that have sought service for the project.

MS. MONTGOMERY:  If I understand correctly, the calculation of the profitability index of the project already reflects what I have requested.

MR. STACHOWSKI:  The PI.  The project is calculated for an overall profitability index.  So we have shrunk the project to capture essentially the large agricultural customers, and so the existing PI maintains those customers within the calculation.

MS. MONTGOMERY:  And, to be clear, those customers have sought connections?  Or does it include some customers that have not sought connections?

MR. STACHOWSKI:  It includes customers that have sought connections.  There may be some commercial customers that we haven't communicated with, but have captured as a potential customer within the agricultural industry.

MS. MONTGOMERY:  And so would it be possible then to recalculate the PI based on the request, just to include those farms that have requested connection?

MR. BRANDELL:  Just a comment on that:  I think that would reduce the cost of the project below our grant.  So I am not sure how that might be dealt with in the EBO 188.

MS. O'CALLAGHAN:  Ms. Montgomery, can you help me understand the rationale for your request and how that helps to clarify a particular interrogatory response?

MS. MONTGOMERY:  Certainly.  So from our perspective, these questions are relevant to the option of adjusting the project to focus just on farms, because one, serving residents can be risky, because some may choose heat pumps instead.  And two, the overall project, it is too expensive because of the soil handling cost.

MR. BRANDELL:  Sorry?  What was it, about being too expensive?

MS. MONTGOMERY:  Just the risk that the overall project might be too expense, because of the soil handling cost.

MR. BRANDELL:  Did you say the soil?

MS. MONTGOMERY:  Yes.

MR. BRANDELL:  Could you elaborate on that.

MS. MONTGOMERY:  I have another IR regarding that later, so perhaps we can get to that at that time.

MS. O'CALLAGHAN:  I am just struggling with your request here, just based on my general understanding of how the PI is calculated.  You know, it takes -- as the witnesses have said, it takes into account forecasted connections.  All of these components are crucial to consider as part of the PI calculations, so I am just not understanding the relevance of your request and how it helps to clarify the evidence on the record.

So I am going to say no to that request.

MS. MONTGOMERY:  Okay.  Maybe I will just give it one more try.  There are farms that have sought connections and, presumably, they will connect to the system.  And, included in the probability index, it sounds like there are potential customers who may or may not connect.  And so we are just trying to understand the overall profitability of the project and the risk that connections may not actually occur.

MR. STACHOWSKI:  I think, based on the conversions that we anticipate of the project based on the surveying completed and the conversations we have had with the agricultural community, the project already uses a conversion ratio that we feel confident about related to the area and other experience in the southern Bruce project, taking into account the experience we have on southern Bruce and the connections forecasted there.

I think EPCOR -- you know, based on its survey and study and the ongoing communication we have had with those customers, the project currently anticipates that the conversions that are in the project can be expected, and that is what has been calculated and submitted to the OEB.

MS. MONTGOMERY:  Okay, thank you.  I will leave it there, then.  My next question is related to 3.0-ED-5, or just 3-ED-5.  Thank you.

Could EPCOR please contact the company that did the survey and collect the information that we have requested.

MR. STACHOWSKI:  EPCOR doesn't typically gather this information as part of the surveying.  We have engaged with a third-party company that does the surveying that is unbiased to the project and, based on the information from the survey, that is what is used to drive the project and calculate sort of the conversion ratios going forward.  We typically do not get this detail in possession and, at the same time, it is not EPCOR who completed the survey.  It supported Brockton through the surveying of this.

MS. MONTGOMERY:  Okay.  I hear that, and I just would like to provide some arguments in support of why we believe disclosure could be merited.  Maybe you can reconsider your position based on these arguments.  First of all, the survey is clearly in scope.  Secondly, EPCOR has submitted this survey in support of the project, so we would submit that full details of the survey should be provided or, potentially, the survey should be withdrawn.  And, finally, this sort of information is routinely disclosed by Enbridge in its gas expansion hearings.  So based, on those positions, I am wondering if it might be possible to reconsider your answer.

MS. O'CALLAGHAN:  Mr. Stachowski, I understand there is being to be a break coming up.  Would you be amenable to having EPCOR consider your request and determine whether it will or will not take that undertaking after the break?

MR. STACHOWSKI:  Yes.

MS. MONTGOMERY:  Sorry, who was that question directed toward?

MS. O'CALLAGHAN:  Sorry.  That was -- my apologies -- to you, Ms. Montgomery.

MS. MONTGOMERY:  Certainly.  We can wait until after the break and get a response then.  Thank you.  Okay, we will move now, then, to 3-ED-6, please.  And, particularly, I am looking at the chart at part C.

We would like to request that EPCOR fully complete the chart with all of the requested information, and the reason being that it is important to have a clear, side-by-side comparison, rather than have to seek out information in other sources for the benefit of the panel and the evidentiary record.  So I will specifically refer to the sections that we are concerned with.

The first one is the second row.  It is on the first -- the top of page 87.  And the information we were seeking were gas distribution charges, and that was for two periods; one, when the attachment survey was conducted, and the current status.  These questions ask us to refer to older decisions, and we would just request that EPCOR provide the information directly in the chart, just to ensure that there is no debate about that information and to provide for a clear comparison on the record.

MS. O'CALLAGHAN:  We will take that undertaking.

MS. MONTGOMERY:  Thank you.  So that also refers to the second row down, the gas distribution --


MS. O'CALLAGHAN:  And just --


MS. MONTGOMERY: Sorry?

MS. O'CALLAGHAN:  My apologies for interrupting, but, just to be clear, you are wanting the exact gas distribution charge?  Tim, can you please go up to the top of this chart.  So, just to be clear, for when the attachment survey was conducted -- Tim, if you can scroll down -- you want to know the gas distribution charges, and the gas distribution charges on an annual basis?

MS. MONTGOMERY: I believe the second column was the current status, according to that chart.

MS. O'CALLAGHAN:  Okay.  Yes, so those two columns, you're wanting --


MS. MONTGOMERY: Those two columns and the first two top rows.  And they refer to specific decisions and points in time.

MS. O'CALLAGHAN:  Yes.

MS. MONTGOMERY:  But it would be, I think, better for the record if those amounts were in the chart to provide a clear side-by-side comparison.

MS. O'CALLAGHAN:  Yes, we can take that.

MS. MONTGOMERY: Great, thank you.

MR. STACHOWSKI:  Sorry, for the clarification, is that residential?  I don't know what the question is, but did you just want residential or did you want the entire terra?

MS. MONTGOMERY:  That's a great question.  It's also a good reason why referring to the decision wasn't clear on the record.  I'm actually not clear on that, so perhaps I can seek that -- at the break, I can seek that clarification about that and come back.

MS. O'CALLAGHAN:  Sure.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thomas, I think you were about to say that the survey is residential?

MR. STACHOWSKI:  I was going to say the survey is residential.

MS. MONTGOMERY:  Okay.  So it should be clear, then.  thank you.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  So you only want residential?

MS. MONTGOMERY: Yes, that's correct.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I'm just going to jump in for a minute.  I'll give that undertaking number JT1.2.  Could I maybe ask Ms. O'Callahan to state exactly what it is that you are undertaking to do.  This is more for the court reporter's benefit and for the transcript than those of us in the room right now.

MS. O'CALLAGHAN:  My understanding of the request is that EPCOR will complete -- will provide further detail on interrogatory 3.0-ED-6(c), the chart, and will provide the actual values for residential customers.  Tim, if you could scroll down, for the gas distribution charges, variable, and gas distribution charges, fixed charges.
UNDERTAKING JT1.2:  EPCOR TO PROVIDE FURTHER DETAIL FOR THE CHART IN IR 3.0-ED-6C TO INCLUDE ACTUAL VALUES FOR RESIDENTIAL CUSTOMERS, GAS DISTRIBUTION CHARGES, FIXED CHARGES.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thanks.

MS. MONTGOMERY:  So continuing with this chart, the next three rows referred to the availability of certain rebate programs through the federal government in relation to -- and the provincial government, in relation to heat pumps.  And what we were looking for here is just evidence on the record about whether those programs were available to customers at the time that the survey was conducted, and currently.  It is basically a yes or no, but just to clarify the record as to whether or not those programs were available at the time of the survey and whether they are available now.  It is not related to whether customers will avail themselves of them, but rather the availability or not.

MR. STACHOWSKI:  I think, Daniela, we can take that one and include it as part of the undertaking with the two above.

MS. MONTGOMERY:  Thank you.  And then my final question with regard to this chart is the last row on that page.  So it is the EPCOR infill customer connection charges policy.  And the response given is that there is no charge for the first 30 metres, and we would just like to know what the charge is after the 30 metres, and include it in this chart.

MR. HESSELINK:  We can provide that.

MS. MONTGOMERY:  Okay.  Thank you.  Okay.  My next question is in relation --


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sorry.  Just for the sake of clarity, do you want to make that all part of undertaking JT1.2?  Or do you want to give that a separate -- make that a separate undertaking?  I am happy either way.  I just want to make sure that we have an undertaking that we can understand when we read the transcript after.

MR. MOHAN:  I wonder if we want to talk about that at the break, as well, if that is okay, just for the natural gas -- sorry, the rebates with respect to electric heat pumps and so on.  I wouldn't mind, before we take that on, have the ability to quickly chat about that at the break time, with the team.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  So you are not giving that undertaking or adding it to JT1.2 at this point?  You want to talk about at on the break, before you give it?

MR. MOHAN: If that is okay.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sure.  It is okay for me.  Is that okay for you, Ms. Montgomery?

MS. MONTGOMERY:  Certainly.  I guess I would just add in terms of why we think this is important is that EPCOR is relying on this survey.  But the survey was conducted at a certain point in time and reflected conditions in a context that existed at the time of the survey.  And our submission would be that those conditions have changed.  So we just want that to be reflected on the record.

MS. O'CALLAGHAN:  All right.  Further to comments from the EPCOR witness panel, we will consider that undertaking and confirm whether we will accept, after the break.

MS. MONTGOMERY:  To clarify, the first two rows in that chart were related to gas distribution charges; that is an undertaking.  And then the last row, EPCOR infill customer connection policy, is also an undertaking.

MS. O'CALLAGHAN:  That is correct.

MS. MONTGOMERY:  Okay.  All right.  Thank you.  All right.  Let's go then to 3.0-ED-8, please?  And our question with regard to this interrogatory response is whether EPCOR would undertake to confer with the Innovative Research Group and provide the source for the conversion cost figures, with a link to the information if that is available online.

MS. O'CALLAGHAN:  I am not sure that we are able to provide that information, so I just want to check in with the witness panel if they have any concerns whether that information is actually available to us.  So hearing nothing, perhaps this is another one we are going to have to take away for the break, Ms. Montgomery.

MS. MONTGOMERY:  Okay.

MS. O'CALLAGHAN:  If you could just reiterate your request?

MS. MONTGOMERY:  Certainly.  Whether EPCOR would confer with or undertake to confer with the Innovative Research Group and provide the source for the conversion cost figures, with a link to the information if it is available online.

MS. O'CALLAGHAN:  Thank you.

MS. MONTGOMERY:  All right.  My next question is relating to 3.0-ED-9, please.  And our question is whether EPCOR could provide an estimate of the forecast customer connections by fuel type based on the proportions of the survey respondents indicating that they are interested in converting by fuel type, and adding any caveats necessary to those estimates.

MR. STACHOWSKI:  I believe the survey already speaks to the fuel type percentages.  Can you clarify?

MS. MONTGOMERY:  So it is based on a proportion of survey respondents who indicated they are interested in converting, by fuel type.

MR. STACHOWSKI:  You are interested in knowing, based off of the project conversion, like, forecast estimate of customers based on fuel type, what the number would be for the entire --


MS. MONTGOMERY:  Sure.  Yes, an estimate.

MR. BRANDELL:  I am not sure there would be any basis for that kind of an estimate.

MS. MONTGOMERY:  Can you elaborate, please?

MR. BRANDELL:  As I understand it, as an example, are you asking if five percent of customers had fuel oil, and we said a thousand customers would convert, then saying that five percent of the thousand are going to -- will be fuel oil customers that convert?  Is that what you are asking for?

MS. MONTGOMERY:  Yes.

MR. BRANDELL:  Subject, Thomas, to -- you have more detailed knowledge about that.  I don't think that kind of math would really necessarily reflect what reality is.  I am not sure how useful it would be.

MS. O'CALLAGHAN:  On the basis of Mr. Brandell's response, we are going to reject that undertaking.

MS. MONTGOMERY:  Okay.  Then we will move to 3.0-ED-15, please.  And my question here is related to the depreciation rate for plastic mains and services.  So Enbridge's depreciation rate for plastic mains and services is 60 years.  Our question is why EPCOR's depreciation rate is considerably shorter.

MR. BRANDELL:  We can't comment on what Enbridge's depreciation rates are.  Certainly, these are the depreciation rates as have been approved by the OEB.

MS. MONTGOMERY:  Okay.  We will move on to 3.0-ED-18, please.  And my first question is related to A.

I am just asking for a confirmation that EPCOR has no studies or analysis of the likelihood of a new residential customer subsequently switching from gas to electric heat pumps before the end of the 40-year revenue horizon.

MR. STACHOWSKI:  Outside of the surveying we have done, which we believe there are going to we significant conversions within the community, we only look at the project from a 10-year point of view and so do not have information that goes beyond that.

MS. MONTGOMERY:  Okay, thanks.  So that is a confirmation, then, of my question, that there are no other studies or analyses?

MR. STACHOWSKI:  Yes.

MS. MONTGOMERY:  Thank you.  All right.  And, with regard to C, we are asking EPCOR to undertake to answer this question based on the survey responses.

MS. O'CALLAGHAN:  Ms. Montgomery, I am a bit confused.  I think EPCOR has responded in response to sub C that this information is not available.

MS. MONTGOMERY:  That is fine.  You know, we could come up with our own estimates, but we would rather avoid ending up in a debate about whether our estimates are accurate or not.  So we would simply submit that this is EPCOR's application and these questions go to the likelihood that customers switching from propane to gas will have an opportunity and an incentive to switch from gas to heat pump in the near future.

MR. MOHAN:  I think --


MS. O'CALLAGHAN:  I am just going to step in and just say we are not going to take that undertaking, just because the record clearly reflects that EPCOR has considered it and has determined that the information isn't available.

MS. MONTGOMERY:  Thank you.  So we will then move to 3.0-ED-20, please, and we are looking at question B.  And our question is:  What kind of rate 6 and rate 11 businesses are expected to connect?

MR. STACHOWSKI:  Rate 11 customers are seasonal customers, so these are often the grain-drying customers within the area.  And rate 6 are any commercial customers that typically use a fuel volume that is above a residential rate, so any commercial user using more than a residential rate.  And this can be sometimes even be residences.  It has more to do with the actual volume of gas that the customer is using and the tariff they are on.

MS. MONTGOMERY:  Thank you.  Sticking with this question, would EPCOR undertake to provide the table with the forecast revenue from the different types of businesses.

MR. BRANDELL:  I think we have done that.  We did, as a response to an IR, provide the revenue broken out by rate class.

MS. O'CALLAGHAN:  I think what Mr. Brandell might be referring to was -- oh, no, I was looking at a chart here that deals with volumes, but not revenues.

MR. BRANDELL:  Sorry.  Is it on the screen here.  There is that, but there was also an IR that we broke out by year.

MS. O'CALLAGHAN:  Yes.

MR. BRANDELL:  Broke it out, you know, volume -- like the various charges per volume tiers by year, by rate class, in a spreadsheet.

MR. HESSELINK:  Yes.

MS. O'CALLAGHAN:  Ms. Montgomery, what we can do is, maybe after the break, we can refer you to that IR response.

MS. MONTGOMERY:  That would be very helpful, thank you.

MS. O'CALLAHAN:  Sure.

MS. MONTGOMERY: And then my final question on this note is:  What, if any, assessment have you done of the risk that these customers will go bankrupt or switch from gas before the end of the 40-year revenue horizon?

MR. BRANDELL:  We haven't completed any assessment at all in relationship to the financial health of any businesses.  Certainly, we have credit rating requirements that we will impose once we start signing up customers.

MS. MONTGOMERY:  Thank you.  EB0 188 calls for a 20-year revenue horizon for large-volume customers.  How does EPCOR define its large-volume customers?

MR. BRANDELL:  Our large-volume customers, we define them as our contract customers, which I think are the rate 16 customers, of which we have none forecast to connect to the system in Brockton.

MS. MONTGOMERY:  Okay.  And so to clarify, then, rate 6 and rate 11 connections are not considered large-volume customers.  Do I have that right?

MR. BRANDELL:  Correct.

MS. MONTGOMERY:  Okay, thank you.  And now we will move to ED-21, please.  Thank you.

EB0 188 requires that normalized reinforcement costs be included in the DCF calculations, section 2.1 C.  How is EPCOR justified in not doing that?

MR. BRANDELL:  Just to clarify the answer, we have in fact included normalized -- sorry, you are talking about normalized reinforcement costs?

MS. MONTGOMERY:  That is correct.

MR. BRANDELL:  Yes.  We have included normalized reinforcement costs in the community expansion, we just don't break them out into a separate line item.  However, all of the costs associated with the community expansion are included in the EBO 188 calculation.

MS. MONTGOMERY:  Okay.  So could that be broken out, then.

MR. BRANDELL:  We are unable to break those out, because they are part of the overall system itself.  Like, there is no separate category of reinforcement costs.  It is what we require to service the community expansion.

MS. MONTGOMERY:  Okay.  And so you are saying that those are already included in the --


MR. BRANDELL:  Yes.

MS. MONTGOMERY:  In the information you provided.

MR. BRANDELL:  Yes.  Yes.

MS. MONTGOMERY:  All right.  We are going to move then to EDC-23, please.  My question is this:  Enbridge is increasing its extra length charge to $159 per metre above 20 metres, because its previous charge was too low to ensure cost recovery.  And so our question is how can EPCOR manage to connect houses for $37 per metre over 30 metres?

MR. HESSELINK:  We can't comment on Enbridge, but we are charging based on what our contractor is charging us for that work.  So we are just flowing through that cost.

MS. MONTGOMERY:  Yes, and that is fine.  I don't need you to comment on Enbridge.  We want to make sure that costs are -- that enough money has been collected from the connecting customers, so that existing customers are not subsidizing these connections.

And so in that vein, then, if that is what your contractor is charging you, would EPCOR undertake to provide the actual connection costs for the 10 most recent houses that EPCOR has connected to its system?  And that would include the full cost of the service line, meter and regulator, and indicate how many metres long this service line was?

MR. BRANDELL:  I don't think we track costs like that.  Maybe we will have to take it under advisement in a break, but we don't track costs on an individual housing -- connecting an individual house.  We wouldn't track costs like that.

MS. O'CALLAGHAN:  Sure, let's do that.  Let's take that one under advisement and get back to you after the break.  But what I am hearing from the witness is that we may not be able to provide that undertaking.

MS. MONTGOMERY:  Okay.  If you are certain that the costs are covered by that charge, then we would be interested in understanding more about that and where that certainty comes from.  Okay.

And now we will go to ED-35 please.

MS. O'CALLAGHAN:  Ms. Montgomery, can you just repeat your request so that we can consider it at the break?

MS. MONTGOMERY:  Certainly.  So we are asking if EPCOR will undertake to provide the actual connection costs for the 10 most recent houses that EPCOR connected to its system, including the full cost of the service line, meter and regulator, and also to indicate how many metres the service line was in each case.

MS. O'CALLAGHAN:  Thank you.

MS. MONTGOMERY:  Thank you.  Okay.  We are moving as I said to ED-35.  And our question here is why EPCOR is not seeking to collect a system expansion surcharge like Enbridge does?

MR. BRANDELL:  I am not sure if you are aware of the history of the system expansion surcharge Enbridge brought in during the initial Bruce, or Southern -- or during the initial community expansion projects.  Because EPCOR was new to the province, our initial tariff, our Southern Bruce tariff took into account all the relevant costs associated with the greenfield Southern Bruce utility.  So we didn't have the requirement to have a system expansion surcharge.

MS. MONTGOMERY:  Okay.  Thank you.  My next question related to this IR is if EPCOR can please reconcile the $16 million figure and the $20 million figure in parts A and parts B?  And our question is shouldn't they be the same figure, as they both represent the revenue in the last 30 years of the project?

MR. BRANDELL:  What you are asking here though is cover outstanding -- in A, you are asking for capital costs and O&M costs?

MS. MONTGOMERY:  I am just trying to understand it.

MR. BRANDELL:  Yes.

MS. MONTGOMERY:  If you could help me to understand it, that would be great.

MS. O'CALLAGHAN:  Why don't we undertake to provide that response in a written undertaking?

MS. MONTGOMERY:  That is fine by me.

MS. O'CALLAGHAN:  So if you could just clarify that undertaking, please?

MS. MONTGOMERY:  Certainly.  Please reconcile the $16 million figure and the $20 million figures in parts A and B of this interrogatory response.  And the question is shouldn't they be the same figure, as they both represent the revenue in the last 30 years of the project?

MS. O'CALLAGHAN:  Thank you.

MS. MONTGOMERY:  Thank you.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  We will make that JT1.3.
UNDERTAKING JT1.3:  TO RECONCILE THE $16 MILLION AND THE $20 MILLION IN ED-35 PARTS A AND B

MS. MONTGOMERY:  Thank you.  Now, we will move to ED-36, please.  And our question here is if you could please explain how disposing the volume variance account annually would be consistent with the current requirement to have a 10-year rate stability period?

MR. BRANDELL:  Our response is there.  The rate stability period is based on a residential customer usage of 1450 cubic metres a year.  If that usage is higher or lower, then that volume is reflected in the -- or is assumed, in the 10-year rate stability period.

The other element is that the rate stability period is related to customer connections, as well as capital.  The utility agrees to take the risk associated with those two elements.

MS. MONTGOMERY:  Okay.  Thank you.  And ED-37, please.  I have two questions here.  The first one is if EPCOR makes existing customers pay for the additional soil handling costs, wouldn't that cause an additional cost subsidy from existing to new customers?

MR. BRANDELL:  The excess soil there is specific to Brockton.  So it would be Brockton customers that would pay any costs, or pay the balance of that.  Existing Southern Bruce customers would not be impacted by this approval, this variance account.

MS. MONTGOMERY:  Would any existing customers in Brockton be affected by this account?

MR. BRANDELL:  We don't have any existing customers in Brockton.

MS. MONTGOMERY:  I am just trying to clarify.  Yes, thank you.

And my final question then is would EPCOR still proceed with the project if OEB approval was contingent on shrinking the project as outlined in 3 Staff 18H in order to achieve a profitability index of 1.0, in light of the additional soil handling costs?

MR. BRANDELL:  EPCOR would have to consider that.  So I can't give you a response, right now.

MS. MONTGOMERY:  What would the factors be that you would have to consider?

MR. BRANDELL:  We would have to take it internally, and make a decision as to whether it was a project that we want to proceed with or not.

MS. MONTGOMERY:  Thank you.  As I anticipated, I did not come close to using the three hours of time that we had originally requested.  So, subject to any undertaking responses and to the responses that EPCOR will provide after the break, those are my questions for the panel this morning.  Thank you very much.


MS. O'CALLAGHAN:  Mr. Sidlofsky, could we take a break now, then, to consider some of the requests that Ms. Montgomery has made and that EPCOR has taken under advisement.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Yes, I was just about to suggest that.  It seems like a good time for a break now.  That way, we could finish up everything that is Environmental Defence–related and move on to Staff after that.


So, Ms. O'Callaghan, how long do you think you would like?  Will you need a bit more than 15 minutes to sort out a few things?  You have a few questions to deal with, I guess, so what would you like?


MS. O'CALLAGHAN:  Thank you.  Panel, any suggestions on how much time we will need?  I think we will need about 20 minutes.


MR. STACHOWSKI:  Yes.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I will tell you what.  We seem to be running dramatically ahead of schedule, so I am going to give you until 11:00.  That is just about 25 minutes.  And we will reconvene at 11:00.  How is that?


MS. O'CALLAGHAN:  That is fantastic, thank you.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.  Thanks, everybody.  We will see you back at 11:00.

--- Recess taken at 10:33 a.m.
--- On resuming at 11:11 a.m.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Welcome back.  We are back on the record now and I understand, Ms. O'Callaghan, that EPCOR has some answers to those outstanding questions.  Maybe I won't say answers, but you are deciding on whether you are going to be giving undertakings or providing more information.

MS. O'CALLAGHAN:  That is correct, yes.  So I will start off with the easy one.  I believe Ms. Montgomery was looking for more information on revenues by rate class.  We were able to track down the response to interrogatory that we think has the information that she is looking for, so that would be on 3-Staff-5.  And I would refer to the additional workbook that is referenced in that IR response, and that is an Excel spreadsheet.  So we believe that is the information you may be looking for.  Certainly that is the best information we have, on revenues by rate class.

MS. MONTGOMERY:  Thank you.

MS. O'CALLAGHAN:  Okay.  With respect to your question about 3.0-ED-5, EPCOR may not be able to provide the granular data that Environmental Defence is asking for from -- in questions A through G.  However, on a best-efforts basis, we will look for some additional background information that we can provide on this survey.

MS. MONTGOMERY:  Okay.  And with regards our request that you ask the company that did the survey to provide the information, is that part of the best efforts?

MS. O'CALLAGHAN:  Certainly, that is something that we are going to take away as part of our response to your request.

MS. MONTGOMERY:  Thank you.

MS. O'CALLAGHAN:  And then, on a best-efforts basis, we can --


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sorry, Ms. O'Callaghan, I am just going to stop you there.  Are you moving to a different outstanding question, right now?

MS. O'CALLAGHAN:  I am, yes.  And I realize you need to label that undertaking.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I do.  That will be JT -- sorry JT1.4.
UNDERTAKING JT1.4:  EPCOR TO MAKE BEST EFFORTS TO ASK INNOVATIVE RESEARCH GROUP TO PROVIDE BACKGROUND INFORMATION ON THE SURVEY.


MS. O'CALLAGHAN:  Yes.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Go ahead.

MS. O'CALLAGHAN:  Thank you.  And then we will undertake on a best-efforts basis to provide information on the source for conversion cost figures provided to customers in the Innovative Research Group survey.

MS. MONTGOMERY:  Just to clarify, that is an undertaking with regard to ED-8.  Right?

MS. O'CALLAGHAN:  Let me just confirm that.

MS. MEAGHER:  Yes, that is correct.

MS. O'CALLAGHAN:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.  So let's make that undertaking JT1.5.
UNDERTAKING JT1.5:  EPCOR TO PROVIDE INFORMATION ON THE SOURCE FOR CONVERSION COST FIGURES PROVIDED TO CUSTOMERS IN THE INNOVATIVE RESEARCH GROUP SURVEY.


MS. O'CALLAGHAN:  With respect to the next undertaking, EPCOR will undertake to provide actual connection costs for the 10 most recent houses EPCOR has connected to the system.  And I believe you requested the full cost of the service line, meter and regulator and how many metres.  However, we caution that that response may not be -- may not be indicative of actual costs for the Brockton community.

In that regard, I think I will turn to my colleague, Tim, who might want to say a few things.

MR. HESSELINK:  Sure.  Thanks, Daniela.  I think it is just that there is a limited sample size there.  So, depending on who these 10 customers are, they could be higher or they could be lower than what an average cost would be.  So it is not necessarily indicative of the broader scope.  And the costs for the project are looked at more holistically than that.  So we just would caution that that information, that it might not be representative of the broader group.

And just also for clarity, these would be from the Southern Bruce project right now, because there are no customers in Brockton.  But since we are looking to treat that in a similar fashion from a rates perspective, it is better than, I think, using the Aylmer service territory.

MS. MONTGOMERY:  Thank you, for that.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I will just jump in there with an undertaking number JT1.6.
UNDERTAKING JT1.6:  EPCOR TO PROVIDE ACTUAL CONNECTION COSTS FOR THE 10 MOST RECENT HOUSES EPCOR HAS CONNECTED TO THE SYSTEM

MS. O'CALLAGHAN:  With respect to Ms. Montgomery's question on 3.0-ED-6, I would just like to confirm that EPCOR has undertaken to provide with respect to the table labelled "Market development since customer attachment survey was conducted", EPCOR will provide the detailed responses requested in rows 2 and 3 that relate to the distribution charges, and row 7, which relate to EPCOR in-fill customer connections charges policy.

The utility will not undertake to complete rows 3 to 5 in that chart on page 87.  These rows ask for EPCOR to comment on public information and funding programs that it doesn't administer, and we don't think it is appropriate to ask us to respond to those questions.

MS. MONTGOMERY:  Okay.  Just to be clear, it is a sort of a yes-or-no answer, right?  Is the program available or was the program available at the time that the survey was conducted, and is it available now?  So it is just a comparison.  We are not asking to comment on the availability and how many people are going to subscribe within the project scope.

MS. O'CALLAGHAN:  So that is our response to the things we were going to take away.

MS. MONTGOMERY:  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thanks.  I take it Ms. Montgomery, you have no follow-up questions from that?

MS. MONTGOMERY:  No.  I have no further questions, thank you.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.  Let's move on to Board Staff.  In today's schedule, the Staff has estimated 75 minutes, that would put us to just after 12:30.  I am suggesting at this point we go ahead, if the panel is all right with that, and maybe we can finish this up without a lunch break.

If you are okay with that, let's move on to Mr. Murray.  We are going off the record now to resolve this.
--- (Off-record discussion)

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  We will continue now with Mr. Murray and Staff questions.
Examination by Mr. Murray:


MR. MURRAY:  For the benefit of the court reporter, this is Rich Murray, with OEB Staff.  OEB Staff asked interrogatory 1-Staff-3 to get a sense of whether the market research used to forecast Brockton customer additions remains valid, given that it dates back to February 2020.

As part of its interrogatory response, EPCOR said that it has continued to remain engaged with potential customers, including potential commercial and seasonal customers, about their service requirements.  And EPCOR held another community open house in mid-October of 2023 to provide an update on the project and to answer questions about how to sign up for gas service and that sort of thing.

Based on the continued engagement with potential customers, does EPCOR remain confident that its customer attachment forecast -- and remain confident in its customer attachment forecast -- for Brockton?  Please explain why or why not.

MR. STACHOWSKI:  Yes.  EPCOR is confident that the customer attachment forecast is still valid and accurate to use in the project going forward.  I think at this time there was that table that was referred to; this would be a good time it bring that up, and I am not sure what exhibit it will be referred to.

MS. O'CALLAGHAN:  Mr. Sidlofsky, Mr. Stachowski is referring to the document that was filed by Mr. Hesselink on Friday, last week.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thanks for mentioning that.  Let's mark it now then.  That will be Exhibit KT1.1.
EXHIBIT NO. KT1.1:  TABLE RE CUSTOMER ATTACHMENT FORECAST.


MR. HESSELINK:  And I will share that document.

MR. STACHOWSKI:  In advance of that table being brought up, EPCOR has been engaging with the commercial customers, both seasonal and other agricultural customers, on an ongoing basis to confirm their interest in converting to natural gas.

On top of the letters of support that were provided in the original application and were included in the leave to construct, there should be the same groups providing updated letters of support, confirming their engagement and interest in natural gas.  And those should be provided through the link to the project within the coming days or later this week.

And so another reason why EPCOR feels that the load forecast survey that was used for Brockton is still valid and accurate has to do with the fact that EPCOR has been developing the Southern Bruce natural gas project, which neighbours Brockton both from the north in Arran-Elderslie, to the west in Kincardine and from the south in Huron-Kinloss.  And, through developing that project and just going through the survey results that were completed in advance of that project, similarly to the load forecast survey completed in advance of Brockton, we feel that the results are valid for the reason that, now, just looking at the survey -- one second.  I just have to move this.

This table outlines the Southern Bruce connection forecast versus experienced connections that -- being seen to date.  Ideally, through this table, I just want to show why the information from Southern Bruce, the survey and the experience to date, relates to Brockton and the load forecast survey in connections expected.

So, from this table, the total available market is the total potential connections available in the area where the project was being developed.  From that, there was an assumption through the survey, the load forecast survey for Southern Bruce, that 60 percent of the connections would be converted; it is actually 58 percent, apologies.

EPCOR took an aggressive approach on the project, as it was a competitive project, and assumed 60 percent.  That 60 percent relates to the 5,278 connections under the 2028 forecast number.  So those are the connections that EPCOR had assumed over a 10-year period in the project we would be able to convert.

The other items there, so one point of note, that 2019 was the expected start date of these customer service installations.  That relates to the 5,278 being in the 10th year.  There were some delays, and actual service connections didn't start until a year later in the project.  And so just looking at the 2023 actuals, the total customers, services installed this year so far, about 5,421.  Of that, we have customers in service, 4,532.

So again forecasting, looking at 2024, looking at 5,800 customer connections, total services flowing, 5,332.  By the end of this year and going into next year, we look to actually surpass the 10-year forecast in roughly the fifth year of the Southern Bruce project, which equates to essentially achieving the 10-year conversion forecast.

So now, looking at Brockton, this again, Southern Bruce, neighbouring Brockton, our experience to date has been that at 60 percent conversion for Southern Bruce, we would surpass that.

In Brockton, we assumed a 65 percent conversion rate, as we used information from Southern Bruce and from the Brockton survey, so slightly more aggressive -- a 65 percent, 10-year customer conversion rate.

Again, just going back to the Southern Bruce experienced information of customers to date, we are seeing more aggressive customer attachments than what were anticipated in the survey, and such believe that the survey from Southern Bruce and in Brockton are valid for our connection potentials that are determined for that project going forward.

Additionally, I would just point out that, you know, on top of the open house that was conducted last year, we had the open house in October this year to provide updates to the community.  That was extremely well received in the smaller community.  We had over 50 people attend and show interest, and are still engaged in the project, trying to understand when they can connect, and have actively been continuing to engage with the larger seasonal customers, ensuring they are up to date on the project and continue to be engaged in, and as mentioned, that they should be providing updated support through the link for the project within the coming days.

MR. MURRAY:  Thank you.  That was a very thorough answer.  I appreciate that.  And I am glad that you mentioned the October 2023 open house, because that was going to be my next question, was how member people attended the open house.  You have answered that; it was 50.

Would EPCOR undertake to provide a summary of the feedback that it received from that open house?

MS. O'CALLAGHAN:  We will accept that undertaking, yes.

MR. MURRAY:  Mr. Sidlofsky, that is you.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sorry, just hitting the right buttons, here.  That will be JT1.7.
UNDERTAKING JT1.7:  EPCOR TO PROVIDE A SUMMARY OF FEEDBACK RECEIVED FROM ITS OPEN HOUSE IN OCTOBERT 2023.


MR. MURRAY:  Thank you.  All right.  So OEB Staff asked interrogatory 3-Staff-7 to get a sense of the alternatives considered by EPCOR, other than extending South Bruce rates to Brockton, for example, standalone rates.  In its interrogatory response and in the context of standalone rates, EPCOR indicated that among other things it believes there is no requirement to obtain approval from the Board to extend existing rates to a new service area.

Also, that it doesn't believe an opt-in is required to extend existing rates but, instead, an opt-out is required for standalone rates.

And lastly, that the Brockton is mainly within the same certificate and franchise area as the South Bruce project.  It is connected to the same pipeline system, and the respective operations in Brockton will be closely integrated with those in South Bruce.

Does EPCOR agree that the OEB can approve any framework, any rate framework for Brockton that it believes is appropriate, and that it doesn't necessarily need to approve the application of South Bruce rates to customers in Brockton?

MR. BRANDELL:  It is my understanding that the OEB would approve or not approve what is in front of it, as opposed to coming up with its own tariff.  I guess that is subject to check, and maybe the lawyers online would comment on that.

MS. O'CALLAGHAN:  I am just not sure that this is the right avenue to get into argument, so I am not sure what to do with that question at this point.  But my understanding is Board Staff is asking, you know, what EPCOR's belief is with respect to the approval of rates for Brockton customers in this leave to construct.

MR. MURRAY:  Yes.  I think what we are trying to get at is whether standalone rates are an alternative to extending rates.  And we are trying to better understand whether EPCOR, you know, spent much time considering standalone rates as opposed to extending South Bruce rates.

In EPCOR's view, are there alternatives to extending South Bruce rates that the Board could consider?

MR. BRANDELL:  In addition to the response that we have where this is going to be a very tightly integrated utility, which is really, in fact, an extension of 423 customer extension off of the 5,000 or 6,000 customer Southern Bruce system, movement towards a separate rate structure to our view is going to reduce if not eliminate the ability to have those efficiencies, because you are going to have to essentially run two separate utilities.

Our view is that utility of 423 customers is going to be extremely marginal, if not uneconomic, on top -- sorry, go ahead?

MR. MURRAY:  Well, I was just going to observe that Enbridge Gas has four rate zones, and they don't have four different utilities set up.  So could you elaborate on why EPCOR thinks that it would need have a separate utility, essentially, to operate a separate rate zone?

MR. BRANDELL:  It is our understanding that we would have to have some kind of agreements, like service-level agreements between the utilities, in order to make sure that there is no cross-subsidization.

And in our experience in the past with service level agreements is that it really reduces the flexibility that we have to share resources -- to share resources, systems and just processes and procedures.

And certainly, it is our understanding we would have to be filing separate, as has Enbridge, I think, has filed separate rate cases.  Again, filing a rate case for a 423-sized customer utility or extension just doesn't seem economical to us.

MR. MURRAY:  Tim, I saw you put your hand up.  Is there something you wanted to add?

MR. HESSELINK:  Yes.  I just wanted to expand on that, using the regulatory cost as an example.  You know, we are already doing a Southern Bruce and an Aylmer QRAM.  Would we then have to do a Brockton QRAM, would we have to do a Brockton IRM, would we have to do a Brockton gas supply plan, eventually, a Brockton cost of service?

Even for this hearing, which is for, you know, between 400 and 500 customers, there is a lot of time and effort and costs that goes into it.

So I think going back your original answer, I think there are other options.  But all of them would likely cost the customer more, in the long run, as opposed to having one unified tariff, appreciating the 10-year rate stability period, as well.

MR. MURRAY:  Okay.  Actually, I have another question about the rate stability period, to this.

MR. BRANDELL:  Sorry, maybe just to add a little bit onto that.  The other thing the timing here.  We are starting construction hopefully in April or so of next year.  In order to connect, specifically the agricultural customers, they have to be assured that they are going to have gas flowing by sometime around August, if not before, of 2024.  If they don't have that, they are not going to connect until 2025.

And if we went into a separate rate hearing, looking at standard timelines, we assume we wouldn't get approval till somewhere around the third quarter of next year, which would really mean starting to connect customers.  We might be able to connect some residential customers in 2023, but it would really mean connecting them in 2024.

It would also mean our construction would be pushed -- much of our construction would be pushed into 2024, which is going to drive up the costs.

Again, this is an extension that currently has a PI of 1.0.  So it would really negatively influence the PI rate.

MR. MURRAY:  I am not sure it has a PI of 1.0, but we will come back to the PI and we will come back to standalone rates in a couple of questions.

But before I move on, I just want to ask my colleagues on OEB Staff if they have any questions.

MR. GLUCK:  This is Ms. Gluck on behalf of OEB Staff.  I just want to ask you a question about what you are envisioning in your proposal for what the tariff sheet is, because you had mentioned that you don't want a whole other package of tariff sheets and incremental applications to file.

You do have a proposal here for the excess soil variance account, which I understand applies only to Brockton customers.  So you are going to be -- at least in my understanding, you are going to need to, within your system, in your payment system, apply different rates, at least with respect to one rate rider to your different groupings of customers by service area.

So can you speak to that in terms of what you are envisioning under your proposal would be filed and how that would work?

MR. HESSELINK:  Yes, Bruce, I can speak to that.  From a CIS system, we would be able to differentiate between the two service territories.  So  that wouldn't be a concern in that regard, meaning certain rate riders could apply to either Southern Bruce or Brockton, accordingly.

I guess there are two ways as far as the actual tariff would go, either you have a rate rider and it would say "Brockton only" or "Southern Bruce only."  Or, if it makes practically more sense, have two separate pages.  But it is really the alignment of the distribution rates, and some of the other sort of non-variance account rates that we are looking for that longer term harmonization on.

MR. GLUCK:  Thanks for that, Tim.  I think I also heard you mention that one of the major concerns you have about an alternative rate framework relative to what you filed is timing, that, you know, another whole process and all of that would take too long and you would never get your approvals in time.

But one of our fundamental questions, and what we wanted to explore with you today and we have explored in IRs to some extent already, is approval potentially -- obviously, the Board will do what it wants to do -- but approval of an alternative rate framework in this case.  So that timing issue of a separate filing, I think potentially can go away, so just your opinion on that?

All that would need to happen is potentially a different draft rate order process, or something like that.  Is EPCOR willing to consider an alternative rate framework?

MR. BRANDELL:  I am not sure what that would look like.  My understanding of the rate is, first of all, you would have to start with some kind of cost allocation for the area, and then build up a rate structure from there.

MR. GLUCK:  So far, we have only talked about standalone rates.  But we have other alternatives we want to put to you.  And, you know, your first answer is that it seemed like it was a binary answer; it is either approve what we have put in front of the Board, or don't.

And we just wanted to make sure that we could talk with you about some alternatives that may not be standalone rates that require an entire revenue requirement calculation, you know, cost allocation rate design, the whole thing, but other ways that are potentially different from what you have filed, but are not full standalone rates.

MR. HESSELINK:  I think it is a worthwhile discussion.  I do know that there is nothing simple or straightforward but anything regulatory related.  So, you know, simple is sort of, I don't know, a subjective term.

I think the biggest issue goes back to what we talked about earlier on as far as connecting the grain dryers, and them having some cost certainty before they would connect.  If everything sort of gets thrown back into the mix, I think there is fear.  And they will get to a tipping point where they are measuring that risk and would just say, You know what?  I am going to fill my propane tanks for another year, or something like that, and then we would lose that window of opportunity, and drop down to our view of below a PI of 1.0.

MR. GLUCK:  Okay, that is great.  So it seems like we could talk about it today, because that is where most of our questions go.  So I just wanted to make sure we are on the same page.

So I will throw it back over to Mr. Murray.

MR. MURRAY:  Thanks.  One more question:  Mr. Brandell, I think you mentioned the rate stability period.  And I just wanted to ask about that.  What does EPCOR consider to be the purpose of the rate stability period?  In other words, what does EPCOR think ought to be stable during those 10 years?

MR. BRANDELL:  We take on the risk of connections and capital.  So our view is that those are the two elements that should be stable over the 10-year rate stability period, that there is an approved capital expenditure.  And if we exceed that or, I guess, go underneath it, that is to the shareholder's risk, and the connection forecast.  And if we exceed it or we go underneath it, that is to the further 10-year rate stability period, that is to the shareholder risk.

MR. MURRAY:  Okay.  I am just going to bring up a document here.  For the court reporter, this is "Decision on preliminary issues in Peel No. 8."  This is for the South Bruce expansion project.  And I will give you the case number:  It is EB-2016-0137.  How do I share?  Can I share?  Okay.

This paragraph here for the purpose of structuring a common platform, the OEB finds the proponents should price their revenue requirement proposals based on the assumption that there will be no rate adjustments during the 10-year rate stability period.

Are you familiar with this document and this paragraph in particular?

MR. BRANDELL:  I am familiar with it, yes.

MR. MURRAY:  Your reading of this sentence that talks about no rate adjustments during the 10-year rate stability period other than, you know, Z factor relief, does that align with the current proposal by EPCOR?

MR. BRANDELL:  It doesn't align with the final decision that the OEB made with respect to the Southern Bruce competitive process.

MR. MURRAY:  Sorry, Mr. Brandell, could you repeat what you just said.

MR. BRANDELL:  That sentence doesn't align with the financial decision that the Board made with respect to Southern Bruce.  We have IRM filing, so we have increases every year.  We have rate adjustments every year in Southern Bruce.

MR. MURRAY:  All right.  That's it for my questions for now.  I am going to throw it over to my colleague Mr. Lau.
Examination by Mr. Lau:


MR. LAU:  Yes.  This is Arturo Lau, with OEB Staff.  Let's talk about the operation of your rate proposal during the rate stability period on customers that attach to the Brockton community expansion project.

First of all, can you confirm that, at the time of the next South Bruce rebasing, which should be effective January 1, 2029, your plan is to set rates using, and among other things, the capital costs laid out in the common infrastructure plan proceeding for the South Bruce project and a revised forecast of volumes.

MR. BRANDELL:  Yes.

MR. LAU:  Okay, great.  Second, with respect to the Brockton community expansion project, is it EPCOR's plan to include the forecasted net capital cost of $4.6 million, which does include the $500,000 for the excess soil costs, and the estimated volume that is set out in the current application when resetting the rates?  Is this correct?

MR. BRANDELL:  Yes.

MR. LAU:  Okay.  And, in the exhibit provided last Friday, the current customer count is 4,532 and, at the end of the rate stability period, EPCOR is forecasting roughly 6,000 customers.  So, currently, EPCOR is forecasting 423 customers to be attached in the Brockton community expansion project, which is roughly 7 percent of South Bruce's forecasted customer count at the end of 2028.  Is that correct?

MR. BRANDELL:  I will take it as correct.  I don't know if the 7 percent is correct, but I will take it as correct.

MR. LAU:  Subject to checking.

MR. BRANDELL:  Sure.

MR. LAU:  Okay.  And can you confirm that EPCOR's South Bruce rate base is forecasted to be approximately $55 million when rates are to be rebased in 2028.

MR. HESSELINK:  I believe that the forecasted net book value of the rate base for customers included in the CIP.  There is also reference in -- I forget the document, exactly; it might be the Procedural Order 6 or settlement agreement -- where it talks about out-of-scope capital, as well, that wasn't contemplated in the original CIP.  And so those amounts would also be brought forward during that time.

MR. LAU:  Okay.  And --


MR. BRANDELL:  Sorry.  I apologize.  Just to add on to that, we would view the Brockton expansion as falling within that.  The Brockton expansion is an out-of-scope expansion of the Southern Bruce system, which is decision number 6 -- I'm sorry, PO number 6, decision on settlement proposal.  And we can pull that up if you would like to.  That specifically recognizes that there will be out-of-scope expansions of the Southern Bruce system, and that those out-of-scope -- the capital cost associated with those out-of-scope expansions would be included in the Southern Bruce rate base on rebasing.

MR. LAU:  So when is EPCOR expecting to put the Brockton community expansion project capital costs into the rate base?

MR. BRANDELL:  Yes, in the next rebasing for Southern Bruce, which would be in 2028.

MR. HESSELINK:  And those would be the forecasted costs.

MR. BRANDELL:  Forecasted, not actual.  Forecasted, yes.

MR. HESSELINK:  Added to the 2029 rebasing.  And then the actual costs would be after the 10-year stability period, which would take us to 2034.

MR. LAU:  Okay.  So, if EPCOR was to add the rate base of South Bruce and Brockton together, what would be the portion of South Bruce and what would we the portion of Brockton?

MR. HESSELINK:  Do you mean in 2029?

MR. LAU:  In 2029, yes.  We could have this as an undertaking if you wish.

MR. BRANDELL:  I think we have the raw data in the IRs, because we have the Southern Bruce rate base and we have the rate base that we would be putting in 2029 as a response to one of the Staff IRs.  So we have that raw data.  Are you asking us just to do the math?

MR. LAU:  Yes.

MR. BRANDELL:  Sure.  We can take that as an undertaking.

MS. O'CALLAGHAN:  And just for clarity, Mr. Lau, can you repeat your request.

MR. LAU:  So, if we were to put the -- at rebasing, if we were to put the rate base for South Bruce and Brockton together, can EPCOR provide the portion for South Bruce and the portion for Brockton as a percentage.

MS. O'CALLAGHAN:  Thank you.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  We will make that JT1.8.
UNDERTAKING JT1.8:  EPCOR TO PROVIDE THE PERCENTAGE RATE BASE AMOUNT AT REBASING FOR SOUTH BRUCE AND FOR BROCKTON.


MR. LAU:  Okay, thank you.  If South Bruce were to rebase using the 1,450 metres cubed per year, and keeping everything constant from the most current information, such as customer count, capital, OM&A, theoretically, what do you think would be the result of this rebasing, knowing the information that we know today?

MR. HESSELINK:  Sorry, can you repeat that, please.

MR. LAU:  So, if South Bruce rates were to be rebased using the 1,450 per year, and keeping everything constant from the most current information that we have, theoretically, what would be the result of this rebasing?

MR. HESSELINK:  That is a hard question to answer.  Theoretically, if you have a reduced load forecast, rates would increase.  But we also have a higher customer base, customer count, and as well that incremental rate base.  Plus, we don't we what the O&M costs would be.  So, on a strictly mathematical load forecast perspective, so volume perspective, it would increase rates.

MR. LAU:  Okay.  I guess, going along that same vein, again potentially, there may be a significant increase in rates, or there would be an increase in rates, resulting from the rebasing partway through Brockton's rate stability period.  So what is EPCOR's view of this in the context of the purpose of a rate stability period?

MR. BRANDELL:  Again, I am not sure we would align ourselves with the statement that there could be a significant increase.  Again, our expectation is that volume usage, particularly in residential customers, is going to increase over time as they convert additional appliances, and in particular their water heaters, over to natural gas.  And as well, of course, we have the customer volume variance account that was recently approved that is also going to address part of that volume variance.

So it's unknown right now how much the increase might be.  But as I indicated before, our view -- and we understand it has been upheld in various -- and I can give you a couple or at least one case that has been upheld by the Board and agreed to by Staff before -- is that the stability period relates to the two things that the utility has taken the risk on, that they wouldn't normally take the risk on:  one of those is capital costs, and the other one is connections.

That, by the way, is consistent with community expansion projects that Enbridge has undertaken, where they are proposing and the Board has agreed to the exact same process where, as Enbridge goes through a rate rebasing, the connections, the forecast -- or the, yes, the forecast, connections and capital costs and community expansions are inserted into their rate base.  And those community --


MR. HESSELINK:  It is a passing reference to EB-2020-0094?

MR. BRANDELL:  Yes.

MR. HESSELINK:  The decision and order?

MR. BRANDELL:  Yes.  That is their -- when Enbridge went to get a system expansion surcharge, that is the rate case.  And at that time, they proposed and Staff at that time agreed with them, that their proposal was consistent with the competitive process, as well, as then the Board agreed with that proposal.

MR. LAU:  Thank you for your answer.  I will pass this next set of questions to Mr. Murray.

MR. BRANDELL:  You are on mute.

MR. MURRAY:  Thank you.  OEB Staff acknowledges that in proposing to extend the South Bruce rates to Brockton, EPCOR is taking the same approach to community expansion that Enbridge Gas takes.

Further to interrogatory 3-Staff-7, and in particular part A, we would like to ask some questions about whether there are any differences between EPCOR and Enbridge that might lend themselves to taking a different approach than Enbridge.

So, subject to check, does EPCOR agree that Enbridge's rate base is approximately $6 billion, and that it has approximately 3.8 million customers?

MR. HESSELINK:  Subject to check, sure, but we know it is big.

MR. MURRAY:  Yes.  Notionally, does EPCOR agree that even a large community expansion project such as Bobcaygeon which, net of NGEP funding, and Natural Gas Expansion Program funding, is still $47.2 million, and is forecast to attach 3,700 customers, it is negligible compared to Enbridge Gas's rate base and volumes, and therefore has very little impact on Enbridge's rates?


Would you agree with that, notionally?

MR. HESSELINK:  Notionally, yes.  The mathematics make sense.

MR. MURRAY:  Notionally, does EPCOR agree that even if there are significant volume variances from forecast for Enbridge Gas's community expansion projects, similar to what EPCOR has experienced in South Bruce, the impact on Enbridge Gas's rates will be minimal given the large customer base that it has?

MR. BRANDELL:  So I understand that, you are saying variances in customer consumption for Brockton would have an impact, that impact, it would have on Southern Bruce?

MR. MURRAY:  No.  Sorry, Mr. Brandell, let me take another run at that.  Even if there were significant volume variances from forecast in Enbridge's community expansion projects, similar to the way that there have been variances for EPCOR South Bruce, the impact on Enbridge's rates, of its volume variances on its projects, has minimal impact on its rates, just because of the size of its customer base?

MR. BRANDELL:  I agree that would be similar to the impact that Brockton might have, if it had differences in its volume, forecast volumes.

MR. MURRAY:  Do you think that the impact of Brockton on EPCOR's rates would be comparable to the impact on Enbridge's rates?

MR. BRANDELL:  I can't comment on that.  Certainly, we are asking for the Brockton customer volume variance account, which would then isolate Brockton from Southern Bruce in terms of volume differences.

MR. MURRAY:  Okay.  Those are my questions on the similarities to Enbridge.  I don't know if any of my colleagues have any questions they would like to ask.

MR. GLUCK:  Thanks, Mr. Murray.  Maybe I could ask it slightly differently.  Previously we walked through that, you know, Brockton's 400-plus customers are about 70 percent of the total South Bruce system, South Bruce plus Brockton -- about seven percent.  We just walked through that.

Enbridge's largest project, 3,700 customers on 3.3 million, is almost zero percent.  So we are just trying to get to that.  You know, I am hoping you could agree that volume variances in Brockton -- or Southern Bruce, I should -- volume variances in South Bruce on the rates of Brockton customers at the time of rebasing, if all else being equal, you end up at, you know, 1,400, 1,500, 1,600 per residential customer, when your rates currently are set on 2,150, it is going to have a bigger impact on these Brockton customers in, you know, five years.  They are going to connect now, their rates are going to be X.  And then, in 2029, their rates are going to be X plus Y, largely driven by a lower load at 2029, rebasing relative to what underpinned your 2019-2020 base, or basing, when it first separates?

MR. HESSELINK:  I think it gets a little bit challenging; it becomes a bit, you know, speculative, than if we are just looking strictly at the one item; it is hard to address that question.  You know, we are also bringing forward Brockton as a seven percent increase to the rate base, right -- the customer account there.  So there is a bigger pool, I would say.  You know, now, we are at 107 percent of what we originally said.  So that would mitigate that to some extent.

And I think another thing to differentiate us, a couple of things from Enbridge, is one, we are looking at the same geographical area.  So there would be similarities there, from a consumption standpoint, and notwithstanding the operational benefits, as well.  Whereas Bobcaygeon is here and Enbridge has, you know, a broader view of the province, where there could be a lot more differences with their customers.

And maybe the last thing I would mention is Enbridge does also have that normalized, annualized consumption variance account, as well, as a way to mitigate this to some extent, too.  So I think they are looking at kind of the same thing.

But yes, I think just going back to your first question, it is -- if you look at just isolated mathematically, that potential is there, but there is a lot of other factors that would go into a rate filing that could mitigate this for different reasons.

MR. GLUCK:  Thank you, very much, for those responses.

MR. MURRAY:  That is it for my questions on the similarities with Enbridge.  Mr. Lau, did you want to ask any more questions?

MR. LAU:  No.  However there are several additional questions, in regards to an alternative rate framework.  So this is also continuing on from 3-Staff-7A.

So, as we have discussed previously, given the potential for a material rate impact on customers that attach to the Brockton community expansion project at the time of the South Bruce rebasing, which happens during the rate stability period for Brockton, Staff would like to hear EPCOR's view on some potential rate alternatives that could be applied.

So first, given that it is South Bruce's rebasing done in May, and all else being equal, caused a great increase for Brockton customers during the rate stability period.  What is EPCOR's views on applying South Bruce rates to Brockton customers after the in-service date, but continuing for the Brockton customers, only, the IRM, the current IRM approach to adjusting rates until after the Brockton rate stability period ends, so from 2028 to 2034.

And one, is this implementable for EPCOR, such as different rates for different rate zones?  And does this resolve any regulatory efficiency concerns that EPCOR raised with respect to having standalone rates for Brockton?

So there are several questions there.  If you need me to repeat, I will gladly do so.

MS. O'CALLAGHAN:  I would like you repeat, Mr. Lau, just summarize the thinking.

MR. LAU:  Okay.  We could do it in parts.  So, given that it is South Bruce's rebasing and everything being equal may cause a material rate increase for Brockton customers during the Brockton rate stability period, what is EPCOR's view on applying South Bruce rates to Brockton customers after the in-service date, but continuing, for Brockton customers only, the current IRM approach to adjusting rates until after Brockton's rate stability period ends?

MR. BRANDELL:  It's an interesting proposal.  I am assuming you're not asking us to give you a response real-time.  Like, we can take this back and think about it?

MR. HESSELINK:  Yes.  Like, I can comment on a couple of things, just to keep the discussion moving.  From a system perspective, as we've mentioned, we could separate out Brockton.  I think you would have to consider other items, as well, when it comes to QRAMs, gas supply, things like that, where it is only applied to the distribution rates, how it would impact the deferral and variance accounts.

I think there are a lot of different pieces to Bruce's point to look at, but that would potentially, I don't want to say protect, but it would isolate Brockton customers from South Bruce impacts in that regard.  Yes, I think we would have to think about that.

MS. O'CALLAGHAN:  Can I just make a comment.  So, obviously, in order to fully answer that question, we are going to have to take it away as an undertaking.  But, just for the purposes of efficiency, I mean, I expect -- maybe I am wrong -- that EPCOR, in considering this proposal, would have some questions, points of clarification, or might want to have some dialogue with Board Staff about the proposal.  So what does Board Staff suggest as an efficient way to ensure that, if we take this undertaking, we are able to provide a fulsome response?

MR. GLUCK:  That's a good question.  I think you are asking whether there can be some additional meeting of some sort to talk it through more?

MS. O'CALLAGHAN:  Yes.

MR. GLUCK:  I would like Mr. Sidlofsky's view on what something like that would look like.  I don't know if I have ever seen sort of a discussion clarifying an undertaking after the events ends, but I don't see a problem with it.

MS. O'CALLAGHAN:  Well, this is a very unique situation.

MR. GLUCK:  Yes, I agree.  I agree completely.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I think, first of all, we need to articulate the undertaking.  We can certainly provide in the undertaking that EPCOR's staff may consult with OEB Staff on the scope of the undertaking, or the scope of the response.  Would that be okay with you, Daniela?

MS. O'CALLAGHAN:  Yes.  I certainly think there would be some degree of consultation as we try to put our response together.  Does the EPCOR witness panel have anything to add to that?

MR. HESSELINK:  I am just thinking from a timing perspective.  You know, if the undertakings are due in two weeks, I don't if we could -- we could certainly start the discussion and have a preliminary response, but I don't know if the undertaking process within this hearing kind of provides that back-and-forth.  So I just would say timing.

MS. O'CALLAGHAN:  So can I suggest that -- I mean, all other undertakings EPCOR has accepted so far, I think, can be answered within the time frames in the procedural order; that is November 28, I believe.  But, on this particular one, I imagine there would be no issue with requesting an extension on this particular undertaking.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I think what I could say, speaking for Staff, is we are not in a position to change the deadline in the procedural order, but I don't see Staff at all opposing a request from you for some additional time to respond to that undertaking under the circumstances.  And I would say that I would expect it's because you are discussing a number of issues related to the undertaking with Staff.

So I think that is probably the best I can do for you now, but I think Staff wouldn't be opposing a request for an extension of that deadline.  I mean, ideally, it could be resolved in the same period.  If not, I would suggest you put in your request, and Staff wouldn't oppose it.  Unless I am speaking out of turn, Mr. Gluck.

MR. GLUCK:  No, I would not oppose that.  That sounds great.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Will that work for you, Ms. O'Callaghan?

MS. O'CALLAGHAN:  I think that approach is acceptable to me.  I just want to check in with the witness panel.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sure.

MR. HESSELINK:  My thought would be, once again, does this delay then the timing of the LTC and the next steps of issuing, you know, another procedural order after the 28th?  Because, to me, these are somewhat in parallel.  And I suppose that is kind of the point of OEB Staff, if I may.  But I just would be concerned about delays to the LTC as a result of this complex issue.

MR. GLUCK:  I don't think there would be delay.  The timing that would be required for this, from our perspective, would probably be around the time that you would file your argument-in-chief, which would be at some point later than the next PO.  So that already gives you, instead of two weeks, four weeks, kind of thing, depending.  This is all up to the Panel, what they are going to do in scheduling, but I do think, just from a practical matter, you would have the availability of more time to get this done without necessarily delaying things.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  You will also recall that there is an outstanding question about intervenor evidence here.  The Board hasn't yet made a determination on that.  We don't have next steps in the process beyond the technical conference and the undertaking responses at this time, so I don't think a bit of extra time for a response on one undertaking is really jeopardizing you, since there isn't an established schedule for the rest of the proceeding yet.

MR. HESSELINK:  Right.

MS. O'CALLAGHAN:  I do have another question.  If I heard correctly, I heard a Board Staff member say that they wanted to explore alternative rate frameworks.  Is that in the plural or is this the only proposal?  Is there another proposal for us to consider?

MR. GLUCK:  No.  This is the one we would like a response to.  We think we have a full record of your response to, just in openness, the idea of standalone rates.  We have your -- I mean, I'm happy for you to provide further response here, if you'd like, about why you don't think standalone rates make a lot of sense, but we do, between IRs -- well, mostly in the IRs,  there are quite few responses that explain why, in EPCOR's view, standalone rates do not work or make sense.

So, from Staff's view, the three options are your proposal, standalone rates, and this option that we just raised.

MR. BRANDELL:  Sorry, a procedural thing, then.  Let's say we were going to proceed with the Staff's suggestion.  Would that mean refiling the leave to construct and then opening up another round of IRs?  Or how would we deal with that?

MR. GLUCK:  I don't think so.  I think it would be the Board's -- in the scope of this case, the OEB can make a finding as to what the appropriate rate framework is, and they could make that finding about this alternative option that we have just raised.  And this undertaking that you are going to take is key to this in terms of it being detailed enough to work.

Otherwise, to your point about further discovery, how I suggest we would deal with it is Staff would ask for the opportunity to file IRs about it, if there are outstanding pieces to this undertaking response.

So, in terms of this undertaking, I am I am happy to provide a detail, a little bit more detail of what we are looking for.  It is your views, you know, EPCOR's position on this alternative framework.  And then also how you could see it work.  So what aspects of the South Bruce rate framework would apply in this post-rebasing 2029 period, to Brockton.

So, you know, you have various deferral accounts, you have different deferral accounts between Brockton and South Bruce; you have different CVVAs.  You have the excess soil account you are requesting here.  How would all these various things apply?  It is very similar to -- and I don't have the IR in front of me.  But there was one Staff IR that basically lists every aspect of the South Bruce rate framework and asks you, does this apply and why?  And it would be similar to that sort of information, but speaking to the continuation of South Bruce IRM framework rates, post rebasing.

And I think if you provided that, it would provide a strong record for the Board to eventually -- and for Staff to consider in its submission, whether that is even appropriate as a starting point -- but for the Board to later decide what makes sense in terms of a rate framework for Brockton.

MR. BRANDELL:  Okay.  Thank you.

MS. O'CALLAGHAN:  Can I ask for just a brief five-minute break?  And is Board Staff able to put us into a breakout room?

MS. SANASIE:  Sure.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Just before you go, I don't think I don't think I have given an undertaking number to that.  It would be JT1.9.
UNDERTAKING JT1.9:  EPCOR TO PROVIDE ITS VIEWS ON A RATE FRAMEWORK FOR BROCKTON THAT CONTINUES THE IRM FRAMEWORK THAT IS APPLIED TO SOUTH BRUCE POST-2029 UNTIL THE RATE STABILITY PERIOD ENDS FOR BROCKTON IN 2034; TO PROVIDE EPCOR'S VIEWS ON HOW THAT WOULD WORK AND WHAT ASPECTS OF THE CURRENT SOUTH BRUCE IR FRAMEWORK WOULD BE APPLICABLE.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Just before you go into the breakout room, is that for the purpose of deciding whether you are going to give the undertaking?  Or are you already okay with that part of it?

MS. O'CALLAGHAN:  I think we will give the undertaking.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.

MS. O'CALLAGHAN:  Yes.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  So that will be JT1.9.  And Ashley is going to set you up with a breakout room.

MS. O'CALLAGHAN:  Thank you.
--- Recess taken at 12:12 p.m.
--- On resuming at 12:21 p.m.


MR. GLUCK:  We are back on the record.  So it is for EPCOR to provide its views on a rate framework for Brockton that continues the IRM framework that is applied to South Bruce post-2029 until the rate stability period ends for Brockton in 2034.  And, as part of that undertaking, in addition to providing your position, to provide EPCOR's views on how that would work and what aspects of the current South Bruce IR framework would be applicable.

And I should have looked it up over the break, but I did not, but there is an IR that lays out every aspect of the South Bruce framework, and it would be appreciated if you would go one by one through those and explain whether they would continue to apply in this post-2029 to 2034 period.

MS. O'CALLAGHAN:  Thank you.  And, for clarity, I believe that IR you are referring to is 3-Staff-7.

MR. HESSELINK:  Yes, it is.

MS. O'CALLAGHAN:  Okay.  And then I would just add to that that we are in agreement that EPCOR staff may consult with Board Staff on the scope of this undertaking and the scope of its response.  Yes, and that is it.

MR. GLUCK:  Yes.  I think that is fine.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you both for that.  And I think we are back to Mr. Murray.

MR. LAU:  Actually, it is Mr. Lau with OEB Staff.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sorry, Mr. Lau.

MR. LAU:  So, with consideration of the different variance accounts, I would like to direct our attention to more detailed aspects of the proposed rate framework and the rationale for applying certain rate riders and variance accounts to Brockton customers.

With respect to the delayed-revenue rate rider, in the decision and order approving the rate rider to recover the lost revenue -- and I will pull that up so it is highlighted here.  This is in EB-2018-0264 dated November 28, 2019, on page 9 I believe.  And it states -- this is in regard to the delayed-revenue rate rider:
"The OEB will approve the recovery of $1.32 million through a rate rider as proposed by EPCOR Southern Bruce.  Contrary to the suggestions of IGUA, the OEB will not require EPCOR Southern Bruce to update any of the drivers of the revenue deficiency.  EPCOR Southern Bruce shall recalculate the rate rider based on the net foregone revenue of $1.32 million, as approved by the OEB.  The OEB is approving rates on a final basis.  There will therefore be no additional updates to the foregone revenue if there is a further delay to the connection of customers."

So EPCOR subsequently included its addendum in its draft rate order, and it shows how the rate rider is calculated.  Essentially, it shows -- essentially, the schedule calculates the net present value of the revenue generated by taking each rate class's forecasted CIP volumes and multiplying it to its respective delayed-revenue rate rider and applying a weighted average cost of capital.  This essentially achieves a $1.3 million recovery for the delay in revenue.

Is this understanding correct?

MR. BRANDELL:  Yes.  That is my recollection, that it's a volume-based rate rider, so we use the CIP volumes to determine what the rate rider should be, yes.

MR. LAU:  Okay.  Great, thank you.  And, for EPCOR's understanding, is the $1.32 million that has been approved a fixed amount?

MR. BRANDELL:  Well, it is subject to the rate rider.  Again, EPCOR was taking -- I guess there is a lack of agreement between EPCOR and the Board as to whether we were taking volume risk, but the Board has recently ruled we did take volume risk.  So the 1.32 was subject -- our ability to collect it was subject to the volumes that we were going to be delivering in Southern Bruce.

Now, right now, our volumes are under-forecasted, so we are under-collecting the $1.32 million, but my understanding is that we don't have an ability to go back and increase that rate rider to reflect reduced volumes.  So, if we are taking volume risk, then we should be -- there should be the upside and the downside associated with that.

Brockton is a community expansion.  It is an out-of-scope expansion associated with Southern Bruce.  So, if that increases the volume, then our view would be that's the upside, because we've been faced with a lot of downside associate with volume-based rate riders.

MR. LAU:  Okay.  Speaking of which, if EPCOR South Bruce theoretically did not have the Brockton community expansion, and if the CIP forecast throughput were the actual throughput volumes, would you agree that EPCOR would technically recover the $1.32 million?

MR. BRANDELL:  If everything had gone --

MR. HESSELINK:  In this model, yes.  If we're just talking about the CIP volumes that were planned, exactly, then we would recover those amounts.

MR. LAU:  Okay, thank you.  So is there an account that tracks how much EPCOR has received from this particular rate rider and, if there does exist such an account, does it allow for a true-up of any under- or over-recovery?

MR. HESSELINK:  I don't believe that there is an account, but I also -- I think that would be treated similarly to other revenue.  You don't track if you your revenue requirement -- sorry, if the revenue collected is higher than your revenue requirement unless you are outside the OEB's deadband range.  So we are just treating this as revenue.

MR. LAU:  Okay, thank you.  And so, if there were more throughput compared to the amount forecasted in the CIP, essentially, EPCOR's shareholders would benefit.  And, on the other spectrum, if there were less throughput, EPCOR's shareholders would cover the under-recovery.

MR. HESSELINK:  I think, once again, if you are looking at that just isolated, that would be the case.  But you could also argue, if there are more connections, there are more capital costs.  And there are other costs involved with it, but, just strictly looking at that rate rider specifically, yes.

MR. LAU:  Okay.  So why would Brockton customers be obligated to pay for the delay in revenue rate rider when the recovery amount that was forecasted should be fully recovered?

MR. BRANDELL:  I think what we are saying is we don't think -- we haven't forecasted it to the 10-year rate stability period for Southern Bruce, but, right now, we are under-recovering, because our volumes are under what was forecast.  So, right now, the shareholder has been covering this $1.32 million dollar -- whatever the shortfall is -- to what we should have recovered to date.

MR. LAU:  Okay.  Thank you.  That is it for my portion of the delayed revenue rate rider topic.

MR. BRANDELL:  I apologize.  Just, though, to maybe give you a more fulsome answer:  Again, we have out-of-scope expansions within Southern Bruce on certain developments in houses that weren't in the original CIP.  And those customers are paying this rate rider, as well.  So in our view this is really kind of a -- the Brockton is really kind of a large neighbourhood expansion, which is part of the Southern Bruce system.  And it lines up with the incentives to increase volume, which increases the overall revenue because we take the downside on that when volumes are less than forecast; we take the -- the shareholder takes a hit on those.

MR. LAU:  Thank you.
Examination by Mr. Murray (Cont’d.):

MR. MURRAY:  It is Rich Murray, again.  So EPCOR is forecasting that during the construction phase of the project, it will incur additional charges of about $500,000 to manage excess soil.  EPCOR says that without approval of the excess soil variance account, the PI for the project is forecast to be less than 1.0 -- around 0.9.  But, with the account, the PI is 1.0.

So further to interrogatory 3 Staff 7, can you explain how the use of the excess soil variance account helps the Brockton PI remain at 1.0?  And, as part of the response, could you indicate whether EPCOR is using the future recoveries from that variance account as revenues in the NPV calculation?

MR. BRANDELL:  If I could refer you to the revised financials in the revised leave to construct?

MR. HESSELINK:  I can pull that up.

MR. BRANDELL:  Sure.  It is schedule 1, attachment 1, page 1 of 2.  Sorry, Exhibit E, tab 1, schedule 1, attachment 1 of the revised leave to construct.

MR. HESSELINK:  Sorry, that was Exhibit E.

MR. BRANDELL:  Exhibit E, tab 1, schedule 1, attachment 1.

Under the present value of operating cash flow, you will see there is a line there.  It says:

"Variance account for excess soil."

That is the cash flow associated with the $500,000.  Assuming it is $500,000, that would be the return -- again, the capital return from the $500,000.  So again, we are adding capital.  The way we are proposing this is that the $500,000 is a capital expense.  So it would go into an account which we would earn a return on.  And that line reflects the return that we would earn on the $500,000.  And then, as you see it, it tapers off as the $500,000 is depreciated over the 40-year period.

MR. MURRAY:  Okay.  And does EPCOR believe that the OEB should approve the Brockton project, even if the PI is below a 1.0?

MR. BRANDELL:  It is our understanding that it has to be a 1.0, that EBO 188 says, given this is not part of a portfolio but this is a standalone project, that it can't be approved unless the PI is 1.0 or greater.

MR. MURRAY:  Okay.  Did EPCOR consider any alternatives to the excess soil variance account that could help the project PI remain above a 1.0, at least a 1.0?  If not, why not?  And, if so, what did you consider, and can you briefly explain each alternative?

MR. BRANDELL:  Sure.  I am looking because, in the Staff supplemental IRs, we did take a look at reducing the size of the project and the impact on that.

MR. MOHAN:  I have that.  Are you looking for reducing the total length?

MR. BRANDELL:  Sure, yes.  So that is 3-Staff-18.

MR. MOHAN:  Yes, okay.  So, yes, basically what we had identified I believe is a reduction of 8.7 kilometres of pipe, to get back to an IR of 1.0.

MR. MURRAY:  Yes.  So that was reducing the capital cost of the project by further scaling it back by about $500,000, and that would -- you know, in an attempt to maintain the PI.

Before I move on though, I will just check with my colleagues to see if anybody has a follow-up question on this they would like to ask.

MR. GLUCK:  Thank you, Mr. Murray.  Can we go back to the table, the net present value table that you just had up, the revised one, with the variance account line item?

In this NPV calculation, in the revenue line, in the top line there, in 1A, does that include revenues from any other deferral accounts or rate riders?  Or is it just base distribution rates, volumetric and fixed?

MR. BRANDELL:  It includes revenue from all of the O&M rate riders.

MR. GLUCK:  Which ones would those be?

MR. BRANDELL:  Okay.  If we go to Staff 1-Staff-7, is it 7 that we run through the...

MS. O'CALLAGHAN:  3-Staff-7.

MR. BRANDELL:  Sorry, 3-Staff-7.  So it includes the delay in the revenue rate rider.  The commodity rate riders, it doesn't include -- these commodity costs are not included in the DCF.  It includes the storage and transportation variance account rate rider, even though that is, I think, set at zero.  The expectation is that the costs are included there, as well as the unaccounted for gas variance account.

Again, I think that has been set at zero because the assumption is that there is no unaccounted-for gas.  The greenhouse gas emissions administrative deferral account is included.  The federal carbon charge customer variance account is included.  The variable carbon charge facility deferral variance account is included.  The municipal tax variance account is included, but that is set at zero because the expectation is that we have correctly forecasted the municipal taxes.

And the energy content variance account -- sorry, that is not included because that is related to commodity.  The contribution aid of construction variance account is included, but that has been cleared, so there is no balance in that one.

MR. HESSELINK:  Sorry, I think you were referring to the external funding variance account.

MR. BRANDELL:  Sorry, yes, the external.  Sorry, the contribution aid in construction variance account is included.  That relates to the variances -- that relates to the cost of the Owen Sound expansion that this, that the Brockton customers will be utilizing.

Then the external funding variance account is included, but that has been cleared.  So there is no balance in that.  I think that is --


MR. GLUCK:  You know what might be helpful, can we at least -- and it may be on the record, and I apologize if it is -- the calculation of that revenue line, a detailed list of what rates have been applied?

So where I am getting a little lost, and it could be just me, is you have used your most recent distribution rates, I assume; your fixed charge, your volumetric charge.  And then these rate riders change.  Right?  They are calculated on the basis of whatever balances are in the various accounts for the year.  And, if we just use let's say 2022 rates based on when you filed this, or 2023 rates if it was updated, are you using a static rate rider from that year to determine what revenues you would receive over 40 years?

This is just where I am getting lost, to give you some context for the question.  It is to understand what rates, and where those rates come from, that underpin the revenue line in the updated NPV calculation.

And I think it would be helpful also to understand what rates you have used for that excess soil variance account line and how that was calculated.  I assume it is some sort of revenue requirement associated with the $500,000 depreciating over 40 years, but it would be helpful to see how hat is calculated.

MS. O'CALLAGHAN:  Can I make a suggestion?  Is that something that the witness panel would like to take away by way of a written undertaking?

MR. BRANDELL:  Well, let me just address at least part of it.  There is no inflation in the EBO188 calculation.  So we use today's rates and we project them -- rates and cost -- and we project them out for 40 years.  So, to answer your question, do we take today's rates?  The answer yes.  We take whatever today's rates are and we project them out 40 years.

The one exception to that, and I can point it out if you want to bring up that EBO188 calculation -- there is one of the variance accounts that ends after 10 years.  And so that one ends in 2028.  But the rest, if they are an O&M-related type of variance account, then they continue.

MR. GLUCK:  That's helpful.  I do want to see what rate it is that was applied in terms of -- you know, what is the rate rider that you are using to calculate those revenues if you are doing something with the deferral accounts.

Like, I understand what you are saying about the delayed revenue rider.  That makes sense.  It is going to 10 years, or at least until that ends.  That goes until 2029.  I think that is the one you are referring to, that ends.  But the deferral account balances, like the other deferral accounts, are those deferral accounts, the rate riders associated with that recovery, is that in the revenue line?

MR. BRANDELL:  Maybe we could bring up that -- we had brought up the spreadsheet that broke out the revenue by rate class, in the various tiers.  I think that will give us some more detail.

MR. HESSELINK:  Okay.  One second.

MR. BRANDELL:  You asked the question about clearing the balances, because it is a good question.  What we would propose, and this is kind of like a clarification of what we have mere, is that any of these O&M accounts, like deferred taxes, that have a balance specific to Southern Bruce, we propose that we clear those accounts; or, when they are cleared, they would only be charged to Southern Bruce customers.  They wouldn't be charged to Brockton customers.

And then, on a going-forward basis, we would have the Brockton -- any deferrals from Brockton or Southern Bruce would go into the account, but any existing balances would not be charged to Brockton customers, to avoid any kind of cross-subsidization there.

MR. HESSELINK:  This is Board Staff 3 Staff 5.  And this was filed previously.  Is this the one you were referring to, Bruce?

MR. BRANDELL:  Yes, exactly.  So, if we look at rate 1, if you could scroll that up a little bit so that row 12 is up close to the top.  There we go.  Sorry.  Okay, that's good.  So, if we look at, again, connection account, distribution revenue, charge revenue, so then we have the volumes by tier, and then we have the total distribution revenue, and then we have the upstream recovery charge, upstream recovery revenue, delayed rate rider.  So this shows, I think, in as much detail as is possible, what rate riders are being charged here.  And, again, there are --


MR. HESSELINK:  I think, to answer your question, Lawrie, there aren't rate riders.  There is the distribution revenue.  There is the upstream recovery charge.  And then there is the delay, the 10-year one we were talking about.

MR. BRANDELL:  Yes.

MR. HESSELINK:  So we would keep these deferral accounts active, but those aren't calculated in the revenue presented in the EBO188 calculation.  They are assumed to be at zero, so there is now impact.  So it is not as complex as, perhaps, we have been trying to explain.  There is your fixed and variable distribution, the upstream recovery, and then the delayed rate rider.

MR. GLUCK:  No, I think I understand.  My next question is the excess volume variance account recovery would be the only deferral account recovery that you would be including in the revenue calculation for the NPV -- the NPV calculation for the PI.  It would only be the excess soil account.

MR. HESSELINK:  Yes.

MR. GLUCK:  Okay, I got it.  So the only remaining piece is to understand the calculation of the excess soil revenues, how that was calculated.

MR. BRANDELL:  And that will be whatever our -- we can give you, I guess, the calculation, but it will be whatever our equity thickness is times the allowed return on equity times the depreciated value of the $500,000.

MR. HESSELINK:  Yes.  I would say, Lawrie, we can provide that as an undertaking.  I don't believe we provided it previously, but just how we are calculating the revenue requirement of the excess soil variance account, if that is what you are looking for.

MR. GLUCK:  Yes, that's right.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And we will make that undertaking JT1.10.
UNDERTAKING JT1.10:  EPCOR TO EXPLAIN THE CALCULATION OF THE EXCESS SOIL REVENUES.


MR. GLUCK:  That's great.  Thank you for the response.  I appreciate it.

MR. MURRAY:  It's Rich Murray again.  In interrogatory 3-Staff-18, Staff asked whether had EPCOR considered using project contingency to manage the excess soil variance costs.  And the response said that the project contingency right now is about 15 percent; if it was used to cover the cost of the excess soil variance account, it would drop to around 13.5 percent.  EPCOR wasn't sure whether that was enough contingency remaining for the project.

What, in EPCOR's view, is the purpose of project contingency?

MR. MOHAN:  I will take that one.  The project contingency, as identified for the project, is generally based out of the engineering principles of where the design is at.  We are currently at a preliminary 30 percent design stage, where the specifics of the project or the detail aren't completed.  Hence, we add those dollar values in.

I will give you an example.  Without having a full design completed, we do not know what amount of rock would be encountered on site.  The cost of directional drilling and handling rock changes when we do that.  Now, the 15 percent contingency on a 30 percent is meant for the 30 percent design stage and a lower end of the complexity of the design, hence why the 15 percent contingency is appropriate for the level of design that we are at today.

MR. MURRAY:  Are you folks using, like, an American Association of Estimating Engineering framework, or something similar to that?

MR. MOHAN:  Fairly close, yes.

MR. HESSELINK:  Which framework -- is it EPCOR's own framework or are you using an established framework?

MR. MOHAN:  EPCOR has its own framework with respect to design and investment for engineering principles, which closely aligns with the North American construction estimates guidelines.

MR. MURRAY:  And why would that framework not account for things like changes in legislative requirements?

MR. MOHAN:  So, just to clarify, are you suggesting that the change in legislative proceedings should have been included in the 15 percent?

MR. MURRAY:  Well, I am wondering why it wasn't, yes.  I think we already asked in 318, you know, why this change in legislation hadn't been picked up by you or your contractors.  And I forget what the response was, but it wasn't.  And so it is curious to me, you know, why the contingency wouldn't account for any kind of changes in legislation given the -- as an example, given the early stages of the design and that sort of thing.  Why couldn't you use contingency to cover this?

MR. MOHAN:  So, and I think I will give you a little bit of a background with respect to milestones, or the timeline, how it came about.  I mean, the intent as you stated, Mr. Murray, is that the purpose of the contingencies account for gaps within the design and, to a certain point, the legislative component would be a part of the contingency itself.

However it is the materially of the dollar value that is for the excess soil, which is the $500,000 as identified, is the reason why we want to deal with it; it is separate of the overall contingency.

If it is a smaller dollar amount which isn't say, material, then that would be dealt within the contingency itself.  For example, the $500,000 is over 13 percent of the overall contingency that we are carrying.  So that is material in the sense that that bleeds out 13 percent of the contingency, before we start getting into the detailed design of the project.

MR. MURRAY:  It seems odd to me that the contingency is only reserved for things that are immaterial. But, in any case, I will move on.

Does EPCOR agree that -- sorry, did you want to respond?

MR. MOHAN:  No, go ahead.  No, my apologies.

MR. MURRAY:  Okay.  Does EPCOR agree that standalone rates for Brockton would result in a PI of 1.0, and therefore resolves this of, you know, using South Bruce rates in Brockton when the $500,000 of excess soil costs are included, and that not all -- the proposal kind of results in a PI of less than 1.0, but standalone rates wouldn't.  I am not sure if you follow the question.

MR. HESSELINK:  Yes, I can speak to that.  I think standalone rates mechanically would address that.  But I think the overall cost to customers would be higher as a result.  And just using the example, you know, I am saying regulatory because I am a regulatory guy.  Just the additional costs and time involved with those components would be higher, overall.

MR. MURRAY:  Okay.  I am not sure, this might be --


MR. BRANDELL:  If I can just add to that:  Standalone rates, as my understanding as proposed by staff, would not cover that, because those rates are the same as the Southern Bruce rates.  So when you talk about standalone rates, you mean a brand new sets of rates that we would go through and do a costing of, a costing of this project?

MR. MURRAY:  They would be standalone; they would be rates different from South Bruce based on the costs of Brockton.

MR. BRANDELL:  Okay.  The other concern with that is that our grant application is based on a certain revenue.  And if we start increasing that revenue, then that could have negative impact, negative consequences on our ability to access the grant.

MR. MURRAY:  Okay.  And I do have one last question, but I am not sure that I really need to ask it because I think you have a takeaway to take a look at Board Staff's proposed, you know, hybrid approach to setting a framework.  I know that Ms. Montgomery kind of asked a question similar to this, this morning, when she was asking questions for Environmental Defence.  But maybe I will ask it, and then we will see where it goes.

If the OEB were to approve the Brockton project based on the net capital as originally filed, which was $4.14 million -- that is without the $500,000 in excess soil costs -- and the OEB was to approve or, sorry, was not approve the excess soil variance account, but EPCOR could bring forward its actual excess soil variance account costs -- not excess soil variance accounts, but its excess soil costs -- for the Brockton project after the Brockton rate stability period had ended, would EPCOR still go forward with the project?

MR. BRANDELL:  So I understand you are asking us then to take the risk that the $500,000 would be approved after we have spent it?

MR. MURRAY:  Right.  It would be subject to a prudency test, later.

MR. BRANDELL:  Yes.  I am not sure if that prudency test would be different than the one that would be applied to approve the excess soil variance account to begin with.  I mean, we would have to think about it, but I don't know how the two tests would be different.  And if they weren't different, then that would suggest to us that it wouldn't be approved.

MR. HESSELINK:  Another aspect of that is then that is asking EPCOR to take 10 years worth of depreciation on that $500,000, and not recover that in rates, if we wait until the next rebasing period after the 10-year time, which isn't ideal.

MR. MURRAY:  All right.  Let's move on.  I think we have just a few more Questions, probably less than 10 minutes to wrapping up.  So I will throw it back over to Mr. Lau.

MR. LAU:  Thank you, Mr. Murray.  So this is in regards to 3-Staff-8 in regards to the Brockton customer variance -- volume variance account.  So can you please discuss the differences between the CVVA, which is the South Bruce customer volume variance account and the proposed Brockton customer volume variance account.

MR. BRANDELL:  I think the major difference is that the trigger point or the line at which the assumed average consumption levels.  For the Southern Bruce, actuals have shown to be substantially less; in fact, they have shown to be about 1450 cubic metres a year for residential customers, versus the initially proposed 2150 or thereabouts.  So there is -- upfront, we know there is a pretty substantial variance.

In this case, we have some very good data from the adjoining Southern Bruce system that suggests that the volume is going to be -- the average volume will be 1450.  So our view is that there will be -- if there is any variance at all, it would be quite minimal versus the Southern Bruce, where it was clear, at least for the first number of years, there was going to be a substantial variance.

So any impact on customer rates for the Brockton customer variance account we think is going to be zero or immaterial.

MR. HESSELINK:  I think another component, Bruce, correct me if I am wrong:  the Brockton CVVA does not include the 50/50 risk sharing or the ROE deadband?  Is that correct?

MR. BRANDELL:  Sure, absolutely.  It is not.  I guess I was thinking about what we applied for, initially.  But, in terms of what was approved for Southern Bruce, yes, it does not include those -- the risk-sharing elements.

MR. HESSELINK:  To expand on that, the primary reason for that as well is as an outcome of the CVVA hearing, one of the main points was that EPCOR should have asked for the variance account at the time.  And the decision in our view reflected that, which is why we haven't included those elements in this deferral account.

MR. LAU:  In regards to the mechanics of how the -- the mechanics of it, between the CVVA and the BCVAA, aside from the starting point of the customer volumes -- or, yes, customer volumes -- and 50/50 and the 300 basis points, is there any difference between how it is calculated, from a mechanistic point of view?

MR. HESSELINK:  I don't believe there is any difference between the mechanics.  It would be obviously a different denominator for the volumes, but I think it would take into account the same energy content variance analysis -- sorry, analysis? -- account impacts, and similar to the Southern Bruce CVVA.

MR. LAU:  Okay, great.  Thank you.  One last question:  For rate 1 customers, South Bruce had both residential and commercial customers with various average annual consumptions.  So why does the Brockton customer volume variance account only assume the 1,450 metres cubed for all rate 1 customers, and does this create any inaccuracies for the calculation of balance or recovery in this particular account?

MR. BRANDELL:  You are referring to the fact we had new builds versus existing builds in terms of volume forecasts for Southern Bruce?

MR. LAU:  I believe there is also commercial.  Like, small commercial.

MR. BRANDELL:  Okay.  The 1,450 is an average of all the customers in rate 1 in Southern Bruce.  And the customer make-up between Southern Bruce and Brockton, we don't see as being materially different.  So we think that average is a valid average.

MR. LAU:  Okay, thank you very much.  Do my colleagues at the Board want to chime in or ask any further questions?

MR. MURRAY:  Nothing more from me.

MR. GLUCK:  Thank you, guys.  I just want to make sure; maybe you could take an undertaking to show the average consumption -- maybe it is right -- but an undertaking to check the average consumption in South Bruce in rate 1.  I just have a recollection that there were these various numbers that are used in calculating, you know, we are talking about that baseline, what is the variance measured toward.  And I have a recollection that, in South Bruce, there were some different numbers for small commercial.  There are sort of three lines; you have lines, rate 1, residential commercial, and something else, maybe industrial.  And I am just remembering some different numbers, just to confirm.

MR. HESSELINK:  Yes.  I think we should confirm that, because I think your understanding is correct for Southern Bruce.

MS. O'CALLAGHAN:  I just want to clarify the undertaking, too.  Your understanding is:  How did EPCOR count the average consumption for South Bruce rate 1 customers?

MR. GLUCK:  Yes.  I think that is part of the response, but it is to confirm that, for Brockton -- at the highest level, to confirm that using 1,450 as the baseline for the BCVVA is an accurate reflection of the average you are expecting in that class across the different customer types that are under rate 1.

MS. O'CALLAGHAN:  Okay.  I just want to be clear.  You are not asking for South Bruce.  You are really wanting to know how we calculated average consumption for rate 1 forecasted Brockton customers.

MR. GLUCK:  Yes.  And with consideration of the customer types that are under rate 1.

MS. O'CALLAGHAN:  Sure.

MR. GLUCK:  Similar to the BCVVA.

MS. O'CALLAGHAN:  Sure.  Mr. Sidlofsky --


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sorry.  We will make that JT1.11.
UNDERTAKING JT1.11:  EPCOR TO EXPLAIN THE CALCULATION OF AVERAGE CONSUMPTION FOR RATE 1 CUSTOMER TYPES FOR FORECASTED BROCKTON CUSTOMERS.


MR. GLUCK:  Thank you.  I appreciate it.  I think that is it for Staff.  Those are our questions.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.  I think that's it, then, for the technical conference.  I will just remind EPCOR that undertaking responses are due by November 28.

Now, when it comes to JT1.9, as we discussed, EPCOR is welcome to discuss or to consult with Staff on the scope of that response.  I would also ask that you keep Staff posted on your progress in responding to that undertaking.  If you do need additional time, we would appreciate it if you make that request to the Board in a fairly timely manner so that they can make a determination on that, the Panel can make a determination on that, in time for you to get any -- or to have any extension that you might need considered by the Panel.

And, with that, I will thank the EPCOR witness panel and other attendees here and we are done for the day.  Thanks very much.
--- Whereupon the proceeding concluded at 1:06 p.m.
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